

# Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Antiviral Research 66 (2005) 81-97

# Review

# Development of antiviral therapy for severe acute respiratory syndrome

Jindrich Cinatl Jr.\*, Martin Michaelis, Gerold Hoever, Wolfgang Preiser, Hans Wilhelm Doerr\*\*

Institut für Medizinische Virologie, Klinikum der Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität, Paul Ehrlich-Str. 40, 60596 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Received 15 February 2005; received in revised form 16 March 2005; accepted 17 March 2005

#### Abstract

A new disease, the severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (SARS), caused by the SARS coronavirus (SARS-CoV), emerged at the beginning of 2003 and rapidly spread throughout the world. Although the disease had disappeared in June 2003 its re-emergence cannot be excluded. The development of vaccines against SARS-CoV may take years. Therefore, the availability of effective antiviral drugs against SARS-CoV may be crucial for the control of future SARS outbreaks. In this review, experimental and clinical data about potential anti-SARS drugs is summarised and discussed. Animal model studies will be needed to help to determine which interventions warrant controlled clinical testing. © 2005 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Anti-viral therapy; SARS-CoV; Ribavirin

# Contents

1.		
2.	Ribavirin	
3.	Interferons	84
4.	HIV-1 protease inhibitors	
5.		
6.	Calpain inhibitors	87
7.	Glycyrrhizin and derivatives	87
8.	SARS-CoV main proteinase inhibitors	88
9.	SARS-CoV entry inhibitors	88
10.	Other anti-SARS-CoV compounds	89
	Antiviral antibodies	
12.	Identification of drug candidates for clinical trials	90
13.	Conclusion	91
	References	91

# 1. Introduction

Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) is a recently recognised severe febrile lower respiratory illness caused by a

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 69 6301 6409; fax: +49 69 6301 4302.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 69 6301 5219; fax: +49 69 6301 6477. *E-mail addresses:* Cinatl@em.uni-frankfurt.de (J. Cinatl Jr.), H.W.Doerr@em.uni-frankfurt.de (H.W. Doerr).

newly identified coronavirus, the SARS coronavirus (SARS-CoV) (Drosten et al., 2003; Ksiazek et al., 2003; Peiris et al., 2003b). Since the first reported outbreak of atypical pneumonia in Guandong Province in China in late 2002, successive similar outbreaks were widely reported from March 2003 onward in 29 countries and territories affecting more than 8096 patients and causing at least 774 deaths (Berger et al., 2004; Stadler et al., 2003; Peiris et al., 2003c; updated information can be found at http://www.who.int/csr/sars/en). About 20% of patients may progress to acute respiratory distress syndrome requiring mechanical ventilatory support. The overall mortality rate is about 10% but the mortality varies with age. SARS affected relatively few children and generally appeared to be milder in the paediatric age group. In contrast, the mortality rate in the elderly was as high as 50%.

Much scientific effort has been focused on the development of a vaccine to protect against future SARS outbreaks. However, the chances to rapidly develop an effective vaccine are difficult to judge at the moment. An animal coronavirus vaccine was reported to exacerbate the disease in vaccinated animals (Cavanagh, 2003) and immunisation with a modified vaccinia virus Ankara-based recombinant vaccine against SARS was associated with enhanced hepatitis in ferrets (Weingartl et al., 2004). Therefore, certain precautions have to be considered for the development of SARS-CoV vaccines due to potential detrimental effects (Marshall and Enserink, 2004), and due to this, the development of an effective and safe vaccine for SARS-CoV could take years. Moreover, it is not clear whether the disease will re-emerge in the near future and it is unlikely that future outbreaks will reach global proportion (Peiris et al., 2004). Taken together, these facts limit the commercial interest in a SARS-CoV vaccine, which may further prolong vaccine development. Therefore, the search for effective antiviral agents against SARS-CoV has to be continued in order to be prepared as well as possible for future SARS outbreaks.

The clinical course of SARS appears to follow a typical pattern (Peiris et al., 2003a). Initial clinical signs are fever, myalgia, and other systemic symptoms that generally improve after a few days. During the initial phase, the viral load increases. Higher initial viral loads are associated with worse prognosis (Chu et al., 2004a) and continued viral replication is associated with poor clinical outcome (Hung et al., 2004; Chu et al., 2004a). After the initial viral replication phase, the next phase of SARS is characterised by recurrence of fever, hypoxaemia, and radiological progression of pneumonia, although the viral load may decline. Peiris et al. (2003a) showed a progressive decrease of viral shedding from nasopharynx, stool, and urine from day 10 to day 21 after onset of symptoms in 20 patients followed up by serial RT-PCR measurements. Thus, immune-mediated lung injury caused by an over-exuberant host response may contribute to clinical worsening during the second phase in addition to higher viral loads in the lungs, which were significantly associated with a shorter duration from onset of illness to death (Mazzulli et al., 2004a,b).

Due to the sudden and explosive emergence of the disease, empirical strategies were been used to treat the patients (Peiris et al., 2004; Fujii et al., 2004; Hui and Wong, 2004). These included various antibiotics, antiviral agents (ribavirin, oseltamivir, HIV-1 protease inhibitors), corticosteroids, interferons, and normal human immunoglobulin preparations. Neutralising antibodies, fusion inhibitors, silencing of SARS-CoV genes by RNA interference, and natural products such as glycyrrhizin (a component of liquorice routs) represent other therapeutic possibilities for SARS treatment. New insights into the field of SARS pathogenesis and SARS-CoV genome structure revealed novel potential therapeutic targets for antiviral therapy. Different animal models have now been established to enable the examination of potential anti-SARS-CoV drugs in vivo. In this article, we review and discuss the possible antiviral agents which may be effective in the treatment of this devastating infection.

#### 2. Ribavirin

Ribavirin (1- $\beta$ -D-ribofuranosyl-1,2,4-triazole-3-carboxamide) is a purine nucleoside analogue that was discovered by ICN Pharmaceuticals in 1970, with a broad spectrum antiviral activity (Sidwell et al., 1972). Ribavirin is licensed in most countries for the treatment of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infections in infants and in combination with interferon  $\alpha$  for chronic hepatitis C virus infection. It prevents the replication of a large number of different RNA and DNA viruses in vitro, including myxo-, paramyxo-, arena-, bunya-, herpes-, adeno-, pox-, and retroviruses. In patients with Lassa fever, ribavirin significantly reduces mortality, especially, when therapy is initiated during the first 6 days of illness (McCormick et al., 1986). Ribavirin can be given orally (with an absolute bioavailability of 40–50%), intravenously or as aerosol.

Different mechanisms may be responsible for the antiviral effects of ribavirin. Ribavirin prevents replication of viruses by inhibiting the enzyme inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase, which is required for the synthesis of guanosine triphosphate (Cameron and Castro, 2001; Leyssen et al., 2005). Moreover, inhibition of viral polymerase activity by the 5'triphosphate metabolite of ribavirin, inhibition of viral capping, and lethal mutagenesis of the RNA genome may contribute to the antiviral effects of ribavirin (Hong and Cameron, 2002). In vitro inhibition of RSV, influenza, and parainfluenza viruses is achieved at concentrations of 3–10 µg/ml. Animal studies showed that ribavirin is effective in the treatment of mouse coronavirus hepatitis (Sidwell et al., 1977; Ning et al., 1998). Although ribavirin had little inhibitory effect on coronavirus replication, it can decrease the release of proinflammatory cytokines, e.g. IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  from the macrophages of mice (Ning et al., 1998). In addition, ribavirin switches the Th-2 response to Th-1 response (Ning et al., 1998). In dendritic cells, ribavirin markedly suppressed the production of TNF-α, IL-10 and IL-12 without effecting dendritic cell maturation (Barnes et al., 2004). In RSV-infected epithelial cells, ribavirin increased virus-induced IFN-stimulated response element (ISRE) signalling, thereby, enhancing the expression of antiviral IFN-stimulated response genes (ISGs) (Zhang et al., 2003a). Ribavirin may therefore serve as an immunomodulator, irrespective of its antiviral role.

Investigations initially carried out by our laboratory demonstrated that ribavirin did not inhibit SARS-CoV replication in Vero (African green monkey kidney) cells at therapeutically achievable concentrations (Cinatl et al., 2003a). These results were confirmed by other investigators using the E6 subclone of Vero cells (Stroher et al., 2004; Chen et al., 2004a; Tan et al., 2004a). However, these results were most probably caused by insufficient phosphorylation of ribavirin to its active triphosphorylated form in Vero cells. More recent studies showed that ribavirin inhibits SARS-CoV replication in foetal rhesus kidney cells (fRHK-4) in concentrations of about 50 µg/ml which is still above mean plasma levels in treated individuals, being in the range of 24 µg/ml after i.v. administration of 1000 mg ribavirin or 1.3 µg/ml after an oral dose of 600 mg in adults (Koren et al., 2003). We investigated the effect of ribavirin on SARS-CoV replication in a panel of SARS-CoV permissive animal and human cell lines (Morgenstern et al., 2005). Ribavirin inhibited SARS-CoV replication (strains FFM-1 and 6109) in embryonal African green monkey kidney cells (MA-104), pig kidney cell line (PK-15), human colon carcinoma cell lines (Caco2 and CL-14), and primary epithelial human kidney cells (HPEK) at concentrations below 10 µg/ml. These findings suggest that multiple cell culture systems should be used to evaluate the activity of antiviral agents against emerging viruses such as SARS-CoV.

So et al. (2003) proposed a treatment protocol for SARS with the emphasis on the combination of ribavirin, and methylprednisolone. The published reports of clinical effectiveness of ribavirin were mostly retrospective case series with intrinsic methodological problems and it is difficult to draw firm conclusions (Avendano et al., 2003; Booth et al., 2003; Dwosh et al., 2003; Hsu et al., 2003; Tsang et al., 2003; Peiris et al., 2003a; Zhao et al., 2003). The only randomised trial concluded that ribavirin was not efficacious (Zhao et al., 2003). Therefore, the clinical value of ribavirin for the treatment of SARS patients is regarded with scepticism, especially since ribavirin treatment is associated with severe adverse effects. The major side effect of ribavirin is anaemia which occurs in 27–59% of SARS patients (Booth et al., 2003; Sung et al., 2004). Anaemia reduces oxygen transport and potentiates the existing problem of oxygenation and tissue hypoxia. Other significant side effects included raised transaminases and bradycardia (Booth et al., 2003), as well as hypocalcaemia, hypomagnesaemia, and risk of teratogenicity (Knowles et al., 2003). In a detailed study on the clinical course and viral load, Peiris et al. (2003a) reported that 14 patients given a standard regimen of ribavirin and steroids showed a peak viral load at day 10 after onset of illness. Although only a small number of subjects had been included in this study, it indicated the inability of ribavirin to clear SARS-CoV from the SARS patients. Moreover, a Canadian study found SARS-CoV RNA in multiple lung lobes, often in high copy number, at the time of death in ribavirin treated patients (Mazzulli et al., 2004a). Early onset of hydrocortisone therapy for ribavirin-treated patients resulted in increased plasma SARS-CoV RNA concentrations in the second and third week of illness compared to those who received placebo instead of hydrocortisone (Lee et al., 2004). This enhancement of SARS-CoV mRNA in hydrocortisone treated patients is probably not due to its direct effects on virus replication since hydrocortisone does not influence SARS-CoV replication in cultured cells (Cinatl et al., 2005).

Although most clinical trials do not support the use of ribavirin in SARS, this does not necessarily mean that ribavirin is without effect on virus replication in treated patients. Possibly, antiviral effects of ribavirin are too weak to improve clinical symptoms. A most recently published uncontrolled study reported that ribavirin reduced viral load in five of eight patients (Wang et al., 2004a). Moreover, this study suggested that the peak inflammatory cytokine (IL-6 and IL-8) levels concurred with or after peak viral load and preceded or concurred with the maximum pulmonary infiltrates. Therefore, reduction of viral load during the early phase of SARS may reduce the activation of proinflammatory cytokines and subsequently result in a milder course of disease. These clinical findings together with the observation of antiviral activity of ribavirin in different SARS-CoV-infected cell lines show that ribavirin should be critically investigated in SARS animal models to allow a more detailed appraisal of its activity.

Ribavirin may be used in combination with other antiviral drugs such as interferons or HIV-1 protease inhibitors (see below). In addition, ribavirin analogues previously developed for the treatment of HCV or other viral diseases are potential drugs for the treatment of SARS. Several ribavirin analogues have a stronger antiviral activity compared to ribavirin (De Clercq et al., 1991). The most potent conger of the group, 5-ethynyl-1-β-ribofuranosylimidazole-4carboxamide (EICAR), showed antiviral potency against different RNA viruses about 10-fold to 100-fold greater than that of ribavirin. Other analogues such as viramidine and levovirine were specifically developed for the treatment of patients with hepatitis C (Foster, 2004). Recently, viramidine, a liver-targeting prodrug of ribavirin, was presented suggesting that organ targeting of ribavirin may be a reasonable therapeutic approach (Lin et al., 2003b; Wu et al., 2004b). Viramidine is activated by deamination in the liver by the enzyme adenosine deaminase. Both experimental and clinical data show an improved viramidine distribution in the liver and in red blood cells compared to ribavirin (Lin et al., 2004a,b). The development of ribavrin analogues targeted to other organs such as lung or intestine may be more relevant for treatment of SARS. Levovirin, i.e. the L-isomer of ribavirin, is associated with a lesser degree of haemolytic anaemia. It appears safe in animal studies and has been well tolerated in phase I studies in healthy volunteers (Hugle and Cerny, 2003; Lin et al.,

2003a). In contrast to ribavirin, levovirin has no direct antiviral activity while it retains the immunomodulatory activities of ribavirin.

### 3. Interferons

Virus infection of permissive cells prompts the innate immune system to establish a first line of defence. Interferons (IFNs) play a key role in these events, since they activate the innate immune system and help to shape immunity. IFNs consist of the multiple type I species (IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\beta$ , IFN- $\omega$ , and IFN- $\tau$ ), and the one type II species (IFN- $\gamma$ ), both of which have antiviral activity (Sen, 2001; Katze et al., 2002; Urosevic, 2003). Type I IFNs have functional, but no structural similarity with IFN- $\gamma$ .

IFNs can induce several parallel antiviral pathways in cells, including four major factors: 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) protein family/ribonuclease L (RNase L), dsRNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR), Mx proteins, and adenosine deaminase RNA-specific (ADAR)1 (Sen, 2001). Some of theses pathways are more specific for a particular group of viruses, although more than one pathway may control infection with a single virus. A common feature among these antiviral pathways, excluding Mx protein, is the requirement for dsRNA as common activator or substrate to IFN-induced protein factors. While OAS and PKR enzymes require non-specific association with dsRNA for their activation and antiviral effects, ADAR1 uses dsRNA as substrate for deamination of adenosines and their conversion into inosines. The existence of considerable residual effects of type I IFNs against encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV) in mice lacking functional RNase L, PKR, and Mx suggests the presence of additional pathways (Zhou et al., 1999).

The sensitivity of coronaviruses including avian infectious bronchitis virus, murine hepatitis virus (MHV), transmissible gastroenteritis virus (TGEV), and human coronaviruses to IFNs was demonstrated in vitro and in vivo (Sperber and Hayden, 1989; Pei et al., 2001; Minigawa et al., 1987; Lucchiari et al., 1991; Weingartl and Derbshire, 1991). Although both types of IFNs were effective against coronavirus infection, some studies suggested that type I IFNs may be more potent than IFN- $\gamma$ . In one study, IFN- $\gamma$  even stimulated 100-fold the production of infectious virions of human coronavirus strain OC43 in human neuronal cells (Collins, 1995). IFN- $\alpha$  was more potent against MHV compared to IFN- $\gamma$  in a mouse model. Combined treatment with both interferons showed synergistic antiviral effects (Fuchizaki et al., 2003).

There are few clinical experiences with IFN treatment of coronavirus infections. In an experimental setting, 55 healthy volunteers were treated with intranasal recombinant IFN (rIFN $\alpha$ -2b; 2 × 10<sup>6</sup> IU/day) or placebo for 15 days and were exposed to coronavirus by direct intranasal inoculation on the eighth day of treatment (Turner et al., 1986). Therapy with IFN shortened the duration and reduced the severity of coronavirus cold symptoms suggesting that intranasal rIFN $\alpha$ 

may be an effective prophylactic treatment of coronavirus infection in humans. Similarly, intranasal IFN sprays given 1 day before and for 3 days after virus challenge protected human volunteers from infection with coronavirus (Tyrell, 1986).

In numerous in vitro studies, effects of IFNs on SARS-CoV replication had been observed (Cinatl et al., 2004b). The first published in vitro study that compared effects of different classes of IFNs on SARS-CoV replication demonstrated IFN-β to be the most effective in inhibiting SARS-CoV replication (Cinatl et al., 2003b). Effects of recombinant IFN-α (Intron A [IFN-α-2b], Essex Pharma, Munich, Germany), IFN-β (Betaferon [IFN-β-1b], Schering, Berlin, Germany), and IFN-γ (Imukin [IFN-γ-1b], Boehringer Ingelheim, Ingelheim, Germany) on two different virus strains (FFM-1, 6109) were compared in two different cell lines (African green monkey kidney cell line Vero, human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line Caco2). After pre-treatment, EC50 (concentration of the compound needed to inhibit the cytopathic effect to 50% of the control value) of IFN-β for SARS-CoV FFM-1 in Vero cells was 50-fold and 25-fold lower than that of IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , respectively. Similar results were obtained for the comparison of anti-SARS-CoV effects of IFNα with IFN-β using SARS-CoV strain 6109 in Vero cells and for both strains in Caco2 cells. By contrast, IFN-γ did not inhibit SARS-CoV replication in Caco2-cells. When added after virus infection, IFN-β was the only IFN that showed anti-SARS-CoV activity. Although IFN-β-1b was shown to inhibit SARS-CoV replication more effectively compared to IFN- $\alpha$ -2b in our experiments (Cinatl et al., 2003b), several other laboratories reported different IFN-α subtypes and human leukocyte IFN-α to be highly effective against SARS-CoV replication (Chen et al., 2004a,b; Hensley et al., 2004; Sainz et al., 2004; Spiegel et al., 2004; Stroher et al., 2004; Tan et al., 2004a; Zheng et al., 2004). In contrast to the initial study (Cinatl et al., 2003b), these investigations were exclusively performed in monkey kidney cell lines including Vero or fRhK4 cells. In permissive human intestinal epithelial cell lines infected with different SARS-CoV strains, analysis of cellular gene expression by high-density oligonucleotide arrays revealed up-regulation of numerous IFN-induced genes including OAS2 and MxA (Cinatl et al., 2004a). Progressive virus replication despite expression of these genes suggests that they do not play a significant role in the control of SARS-CoV replication in vitro. In fact, SARS-CoV replication was observed in Vero cells stably expressing MxA (Spiegel et al., 2004). These results suggest that other IFN-induced proteins must be responsible for the inhibitory effects of type I-IFNs on SARS-CoV replication. Moreover, the SARS-CoV developed the ability to evade the IFN system by inhibition of the induction of endogenous IFN-β by prevention of activation of the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF-3), that is essential for IFN-β promoter activity (Spiegel et al., 2005).

Although IFN- $\gamma$  had been shown to have little antiviral effects on SARS-CoV replication in vitro (Cinatl et al., 2003b;

Tan et al., 2004a,b; Spiegel et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2004), two recent observations suggested that simultaneous incubation of Vero cells with IFN- $\beta$  and IFN- $\gamma$  may act synergistically against SARS-CoV infection (Sainz et al., 2004; Scagnolari et al., 2004).

Activity of type I IFNs against SARS-CoV was confirmed by animal studies. Treatment of cynomolgous macaques with pegylated recombinant IFN- $\alpha$ -2b (PEG-IFN- $\alpha$ -2b, PEG-Intron) prior to SARS-CoV-infection substantially protected type 1 pneumocytes, the main target cells for SARS-CoV infection in macaques, from SARS-CoV infection in vivo (Haagmans et al., 2004). Use of pegylated IFN- $\alpha$  1 day post-exposure protected type 1 pneumocytes less effectively. Although in vitro data suggested direct influence of pegylated IFN- $\alpha$  on SARS-CoV replication, the authors did not determine if in vivo protection by pegylated IFN- $\alpha$  was caused by direct antiviral activity or by immunomodulatory effects (Haagmans et al., 2004). Taken together, experimental data strongly encourage further testing of type I IFNs for the treatment of SARS.

There is only limited experience with IFN treatment of SARS patients resulting from two clinical studies. The first study described treatment of 190 SARS-patients from Guangzhou, the capital of Guangdong (Zhao et al., 2003). The authors concluded that the best outcome was achieved by the combination of high-dose steroids with quinolone plus azithromycin. In the authors' opinion, the use of IFN- $\alpha$  did not result in an obvious beneficial effect. In the second study, IFN alfacon-1, (Infergen, Intermune, Brisbane, California, USA), a non-naturally occurring synthetic recombinant type I IFN- $\alpha$  that contains in each amino acid position the most commonly observed amino acid from 13 IFN-α non-allelic subtypes, was used (Loutfy et al., 2003). Thirteen patients who received single treatment by corticosteroids were compared to nine patients who additionally received IFN alfacon-1 (Loutfy et al., 2003). The use of IFN alfacon-1 resulted in more rapid resolution of radiographic lung abnormalities and better oxygen saturation levels. Moreover, IFN alfacon-1 patients showed less increase in creatine kinase levels and a more rapid return of lactate dehydrogenase to normal levels. Elevated lactate dehydrogenase and creatine kinase levels are assumed to indicate lung parenchymal damage and are associated with poor prognosis (Loutfy et al., 2003). In addition, treatment with IFN alfacon-1 decreased the median duration of peak lung involvement and IFN alfacon-1 treated patients needed supplemental oxygen for shorter periods. However, in late-stage disease, four of six critically ill patients in this cohort died despite combination therapy, raising the possibility that early treatment is important. The experience with drug treatments during the first SARS outbreak has led the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases' sponsored collaborative Anti-viral Study Group to develop a placebocontrolled clinical treatment protocol of IFN-alfacon-1 in patients with early SARS (Levy et al., 2005).

One possible strategy to improve direct antiviral effects of IFNs may be the combination with other antivirals. The combination of IFN- $\beta$  with ribavirin resulted in synergistically increased SARS-CoV replication inhibition in different human cell lines (Morgenstern et al., 2005). Similar results had been found by Chen et al. (2004a). In contrast to this, Tan et al. (2004a) did not find synergistic effects between type I interferons and ribavirin. Testing of the combination of ribavirin and interferon in animal models of SARS will be necessary to judge in vivo activity.

#### 4. HIV-1 protease inhibitors

In contrast to the SARS-CoV protease, which is a cystein protease (Fan et al., 2004), the HIV-1 protease belongs to the aspartyl proteases (Todd et al., 2000). The development of HIV-1 protease inhibitors was based on the knowledge of the HIV-1 gag-pol polypeptide precursor cleavage sites recognised by the HIV-1 enzyme. This approach led to the development of highly potent and selective inhibitors of HIV-1. Anti-SARS-CoV activity of HIV-1 protease inhibitors was identified during screening of compounds including antiviral drugs already in human clinical use; however, the results have been inconsistent across laboratories, and no animal model data have been published to document in vivo antiviral activity against SARS-CoV. The first in vitro data were presented by Yuen (2003) at the 2003 Prevention and Cure of SARS seminar held in Guangzhou in September. At this conference, Yuen mentioned that they found a suppressing effect of lopinavir and ritonavir on SARS-CoV replication. The antiviral effects were observed for both single drugs and synergistically increased by the use of their combination. Hong Kong group reported later on the antiviral activity of lopinavir at a concentration of 4 µg/ml (Chu et al., 2004b) which is close to peak (9.6 µg/ml) and trough (5.5 µg/ml) lopinavir plasma levels in HIV-1 treated patients (Hurst and Faulds, 2000). Yamamoto et al. (2004) demonstrated that nelfinavir inhibits the replication of SARS-CoV in Vero E6 cells at nanomolar concentration which are easily achievable in plasma of treated patients. In contrast, this study failed to demonstrate antiviral activity for other HIV-1 protease inhibitors (including ritonavir and lopinavir) at concentrations up to 10 µM. Similarly, Tan et al. (2004a) did not observe any anti-SARS-CoV activity of indinavir, nelfinavir or saquinavir at therapeutically achievable concentrations.

First clinical results on treatment of SARS patients with HIV-1 protease inhibitors were reported by a research group from Hong Kong (Chan et al., 2003). In that study, 75 patients with SARS were treated with a formulation of lopinavir and low-dose ritonavir (Kaletra; Abbott) in addition to a standard treatment protocol including antibiotics, ribavirin, and corticosteroids adopted by the hospital authority. These patients were matched with control subjects retrieved from the hospital authority's SARS central database. The matching was done with respect to age, sex, the presence of comorbidities, lactate dehydrogenase level, and the use of steroid therapy. The 75 patients treated with lopinavir/ritonavir were

further divided into two subgroups for analysis: those who received lopinavir/ritonavir as initial treatment (44 patients), and those who received lopinavir/ritonavir as salvage therapy (31 patients). These groups were compared with matched cohorts of 634 and 343 patients, respectively. The Hong Kong research group found that the use of lopinavir/ritonavir as initial treatment was associated with a lower overall mortality rate (2.3%) and intubation rate (0%), compared with matched cohort of subjects who did not receive lopinavir/ritonavir (15.6 and 11%, respectively; P < .05). However, the subgroup of patients who received lopinavir/ritonavir as salvage therapy showed no difference in the overall mortality rate or in rates of oxygen desaturation and intubation compared with the matched cohort, suggesting that only early use of liponavir/ritonavir is effective in the treatment of SARS. Other beneficial effects of early use of liponavir/ritonavir included a reduction in corticosteroid use, fewer nosocomial infections, decreasing viral loads and rising peripheral lymphocyte counts (Chu et al., 2004b). The possible clinical utility of protease inhibitors was also suggested by observations performed on patients hospitalised in Guangzhou (Chen et al., 2003; Chen and Cao, 2004) on patients hospitalised in Guangzhou. They reported that none of the 19 patients with HIV-1/AIDS who were hospitalised together with 95 patients who had SARS on the same hospital floor became infected with the SARS-CoV. Most of the patients with HIV-1/AIDS were receiving HAART during hospitalisation. On the other hand, 6 of 28 members of the medical staff who directly served on this floor contracted SARS. However, these findings should be interpreted carefully since the exposure risks are clearly higher for the medical staff than for patients on the same floor.

Although the improved clinical outcome in patients that received liponavir/ritonavir as part of the initial therapy may be due to the fact that serum concentrations could inhibit the virus, no data from animal experiments exists, and possible mechanisms remain obscure. HIV-1 protease inhibitors may bind to the active site of SARS-CoV main proteinase (Zhang and Yap, 2004). However, at least in the case of nelfinavir, inhibition of the main SARS-CoV proteinase was not a major mechanism of SARS-CoV inhibition (Yamamoto et al., 2004). HIV-1 protease inhibitors also influence some cellular enzymes involved in apoptosis (Ghibelli et al., 2003) or antigen processing and presentation (Andre et al., 1998) and block proinflammatory cytokine production through inhibition of cellular transcription factors such as NF-kB (Piccinini et al., 2002; Equils et al., 2004). Therefore, it is possible that in addition to viral targets some cellular proteins may be influenced by HIV-1 protease inhibitors. This may contribute to their clinical anti-SARS activity. It should be also noted that SARS patients treated with lopinavir/ritonavir also received ribavirin as initial antiviral therapy (Chan et al., 2003; Chu et al., 2004b). It is, therefore, possible that the combination of ribavirin with HIV-1 protease inhibitors led to synergistic antiviral effects as demonstrated in experiments with SARS-CoV-infected cultured cells (Chu et al., 2004b).

#### 5. Nitric oxide

Nitric oxide (NO) is an important signalling molecule between cells and is involved in a wide range of biological processes ranging from vasodilatation and blood-pressure control to neurotransmission. NO is also involved in non-specific (innate) host defence, and participates in the complex mechanism of tissue injury, acting as a major mediator of inflammatory processes and apoptosis (Ignarro, 2000).

NO plays a key part in host defence against bacteria, protozoa, and tumour cells. Anti-viral activity of NO has been described for different viruses including DNA viruses, such as murine poxvirus, herpes simplex virus, and Epstein–Barr virus, and some RNA viruses such as poliovirus, coxsackievirus, Japanese encephalitis virus, and murine coronavirus (Lane et al., 1997; Pope et al., 1998; Reiss and Komatsu, 1998; Torre et al., 2003).

NO donor 2,2'-(hydroxynitrosihydrazino)bisethamine (DETA NONOate) had been early found to inhibit SARS-CoV in Vero cells (Cinatl et al., 2003a). In addition, DETA NONOate inhibits SARS-CoV replication in the intestinal Caco2 cell line at non-toxic concentrations (50-500 μM) in a dose dependent manner (Doerr et al., 2003). Recently, two in vitro studies demonstrated an inhibitory effect of NO on SARS-CoV replication in Vero E6 cells. Keyaerts et al. (2004) tested two NO donor compounds including S-nitroso-N-acetylpenicillamine (SNAP) and sodium nitroprusside (SNP). Anti-viral activity was estimated by the inhibition of the SARS-CoV cytopathic effect. The survival rate of SARS-CoV-infected cells was greatly increased by the treatment with SNAP but not with SNP. Akerstrom et al. (2005) reported that SNAP inhibited the replication cycle of SARS-CoV in a dose-dependent manner. Treatment with  $400\,\mu M$  SNAP resulted in more than 3-log reduction in the yield of progeny virus. It was also demonstrated that anti-SARS-CoV activity of IFN-γ may be at least in part due to its stimulatory effects on inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression as demonstrated by experiments using iNOS inhibitors (Akerstrom et al., 2005). Although its antiviral mechanism was not elucidated, NO seems to inhibit an early stage of SARS-CoV replication (Akerstrom et al., 2005). A rescue clinical trial in Beijing suggested that inhalation of NO may be of benefit to SARS patients (Chen et al., 2004b). In six patients, inhalation of NO improved arterial oxygenation and enabled the reduction of inspired oxygen therapy and airway pressure support. Chest radiography showed decreased spread or density of lung infiltrates. Moreover, the positive effects remained after the termination of NO inhalation. It is possible that in addition to its vasododilatory effects, inhaled NO exerted antiviral activity. On the other hand, the harmful role of NO in many systems including development of inflammatory lung disease should be noted. NO seems to play a part in the development of pneumonia caused by influenza virus or herpes simplex virus type 1 in animal models (Akaike et al., 1996; Adler et al., 1997). However, the peak of NO in humans experimentally infected with influenza virus was late and not associated with clinical symptoms (Murphy et al., 1998) suggesting that in contrast to mouse model NO may exert antiviral activity without harmful effects in humans. However, similar studies have not been reported in natural influenza or influenza viral pneumonia in humans.

# 6. Calpain inhibitors

Calpains are the most abundant intracellular calciumdependent cystein proteases in mammalian tissues (Perrin and Huttenlocher, 2002). The enzymatic activities of calpains are regulated by intracellular calcium ions and the specific endogenous calpain inhibitor calpastatin (Perrin and Huttenlocher, 2002; Wang, 2000). This suggests that, like the proteasome, calpains are part of a regulatory proteolytic system. Calpain plays physiologic regulatory roles in membrane and cytoskeletal remodelling, including mitosis and apoptosis regulation (Neumar et al., 2003).

Several studies suggested that calpains may be involved in the regulation of virus replication and virus-induced cytopathic effects. In monocytes/macrophages calpain mediated HIV-1 activation induced by calcium signalling. Moreover, calpain inhibitors were shown to inhibit the activation of HIV-1 in latently infected cells (Teranishi et al., 2003). Reovirus-induced apoptosis was preceded by increased cellular calpain activity and was blocked by calpain inhibitors (DeBiasi et al., 1999, 2001). In a mouse model of reovirus-induced myocarditis, specific calpain inhibitors only slightly inhibited virus replication but protected the mice against myocardial injury (DeBiasi et al., 2001).

Barnard et al. (2004) demonstrated that two calpain inhibitors including Val-Leu-CHO (calpain inhibitor VI) and Z-Val-Phe-Ala-CHO (calpain inhibitor III) are potent inhibitors of SARS-CoV replication. By virus yield reduction assay, calpain inhibitor VI had a 90% effective concentration (EC<sub>90</sub>) of 3  $\mu$ M and calpain inhibitor III had an EC<sub>90</sub> of 15  $\mu$ M. Interestingly, we observed that SARS-CoV is able to induce calpain activity in infected Vero cells (unpublished results). It is conceivable that in addition to their antiviral effects, calpain inhibitors also prevent cellular lysis by inhibition of apoptosis which may be induced by SARS-CoV in infected cells (Yan et al., 2004; Tan et al., 2004b). Interestingly, HIV-1 proteases such as ritonavir and indinavir are able to inhibit calpain-induced apoptosis (Wan and DePetrillo, 2002; Ghibelli et al., 2003). Therefore, it is possible that HIV-1 protease inhibitors protect infected cells against SARS-CoV induced lysis by calpain inhibition (Chu et al., 2004b; Yamamoto et al., 2004). Numerous calpain inhibitors which were recently developed for treatment of different pathophysiological conditions such as cataract, spinal cord injury, or multiple organ failure are awaiting clinical trials (Cuzzocrea et al., 2002; Ray et al., 2003; Biswas et al., 2004). Further investigation of the role of calpains in SARS-CoV infection in animal models is warranted.

# 7. Glycyrrhizin and derivatives

The triterpene glycoside glycyrrhizic acid (glycyrrhizin, GL) and its aglycone 18β-glycyrrhetinic acid (GLA) are the most intensively investigated bioactive compounds of licorice root (Glycyrrhiza Radix) (Baltina, 2003). Both compounds are reported to have anti-tumoural, anti-inflammatory and antiviral properties (Shibata, 2000). GL is active against a broad spectrum of viruses, including herpes viruses (Pompei et al., 1979; Lin, 2003c; Lampi et al., 2001), flaviviruses (Crance et al., 2003), and human immunodeficiency virus (Sasaki et al., 2003).

GL was one of the first compounds found to be active against SARS-CoV in vitro (Cinatl et al., 2003a). GL inhibited SARS-CoV replication with an EC<sub>50</sub> of 365  $\mu$ M in Vero cells. Chen et al. (2004a) confirmed these results using Vero-E6 cell line (EC<sub>50</sub> = 100  $\mu$ M). However, they found GL ineffective in fRHK-4 cells. Disregarding the differences between the different cell lines, EC<sub>50</sub>s suggest that antiviral active concentrations will be difficult to achieve after administration to patients.

The mechanism of glycyrrhizin's activity against SARS-CoV is unclear. GL affects many cellular signalling pathways such as protein kinase C (O'Brian et al., 1990), casein kinase II (Harada et al., 1996), and transcription factors such as c-Fos, c-Rel, and nuclear factor kB (Cherng et al., 2004). GL was also shown to activate AP-1 by the Ras-Raf-MAPK pathway and to increase intracellular cAMP levels by cAMP-response element binding (CREB) phosphorylation (Lee et al., 2005). Furthermore, GL may influence virus replication by up-regulation of expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and production of nitric oxide (NO) (Yi et al., 1996). NO exerts antiviral activity against SARS-CoV (see above).

A preparation of GL combined with L-cysteine and glycine (Stronger Neo-Minophagen C, SNMC) has been a registered in Japan and other countries. SNMC is administered intravenously, and has been used with apparent success for the treatment of chronic viral hepatitis (Miyake et al., 2002) and upper respiratory tract infections (Yanagawa et al., 2004). Haiying et al. (2003) reported at the "Annual Meeting of the Society of Infectious and Parasitic Diseases, Chinese Medical Association" on the use of intravenous SNMC for the treatment of 37 SARS patients compared to 36 patients solely treated with corticosteroids. SNMC doses were in the range of those used for treatment of hepatitis C. After intravenous administration of glycyrrhizin, serum levels of glycyrrhizin ranged from 40 to 100 µg/ml (van Rossum et al., 1999). Treatment with SNMC reduced the maximal used corticosteroid doses and the duration of admission. However, antiviral effects were not assessed.

Apart from its antiviral activity GL exerts diverse immunomodulatory activities which may be protective for virus-infected animals/humans (Baltina, 2003). GL reduced mortality and morbidity of mice infected with lethal doses of influenza virus, although it did not inhibit influenza virus replication (Utsunomiya et al., 1997). Therefore, it cannot be

concluded if beneficial effects for SARS patients may result from antiviral and/or other pharmacological activities such as immunomodulation. In a most recent report, GL was shown to inhibit accumulation of platelets in the lungs of mice in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) thereby inhibiting LPS-induced mortality (Yu et al., 2005). This result suggests that GL should be considered as drug for the treatment of the acute respiratory distress syndrome and further supports the idea that GL may be a useful drug for SARS due to beneficial effects on the SARS-associated lung pathology.

Wu et al. (2004c) screened>10,000 commercialy available small molecules for their anti-SARS-CoV activity. Two of the substances that were active against SARS-CoV in concentrations of 10 µM, were shown to share more than 80% similarity to GL using the International Species Information System (ISIS) database. Elongation of the GL carbohydrate chain or introduction of amino acids or heterocyclic fragments significantly affect the bioactivity of glycosides (Baltina, 2003). Therefore, we tested the anti-SARS-CoV activity of several GL-derivatives to find more potent compounds (Hoever et al., 2005). GLA did not inhibit SARS-CoV replication, demonstrating the sugar moiety to be essential for anti-SARS-CoV effects. The introduction of N-acetylgycosamine into the glycoside chain of GL increased the anti-SARS-CoV activity by 10-fold compared to GL resulting in an IC50 of 40  $\pm$  13  $\mu M$ (Hoever et al., 2005). These findings show that chemical modification may lead to GL derivatives with increased anti-SARS-CoV activity.

# 8. SARS-CoV main proteinase inhibitors

The cleavage process of the SARS-CoV polyproteins by a special proteinase, the so-called SARS-CoV 3C-like proteinase (CoV Mpro or 3CLpro), is a key step for the replication of SARS-CoV making it an attractive target for the development of novel drugs against SARS (Fan et al., 2004). Homology modelling for the 3CLpro was performed by various groups (Anand et al., 2003; Xiong et al., 2003) and the conformational flexibility of the substrate binding site was studied (Liu et al., 2005). 3CLpro is a very specific cyctein protease, which has an overall backbone fold similar to trypsine-like serine proteases, and is responsible primarily for the catalytic cleavage of glutamine–glycine (serine) peptide bonds.

Both screening of currently available drugs and chemical libraries led to the identification of novel 3CLpro inhibitors. The identification of currently available drugs provides the advantage that they can be used immediately for the treatment of SARS patients. Binding pockets and affinities to 3CLpro were predicted for clinically used anti-HIV (lopinavir and ritonavir), anti-psychotic (promazine), and anti-parasitic drugs (niclosamide) (Zhang and Yap, 2004). As discussed above some HIV protease inhibitors may provide effective treatment for patients with SARS. Niclosamide (2',5'-dichloro-4'-nitrosalicylanilide), an antihelminthic drug, totally abolished SARS-CoV antigen production in Vero E6 cells at a con-

centration of  $1.56 \,\mu\text{M}$  i.e. at least 100-fold below cytotoxic concentrations (Wu et al., 2004a).

Screening of >10,000 agents led to the identification of a peptidic anti-HIV-1 agent that targets 3CLpro (Wu et al., 2004c). The agent designed as a transition state analogue inhibitor of the HIV protease inhibited 3CLpro with a Ki of 0.6 µM. Modelling studies indicated that this compound binds specifically to the active site of the SARS protease. CMK, another peptidic inhibitor, binds irreversibly to the enzyme's active site (Yang et al., 2003) whereas a bifunctional aryl boronic acid compound reversibly inhibits 3CLpro and appears to target a cluster of serine residues close to the enzyme's site (Bacha et al., 2004). Jain et al. (2004) developed several electrophilic keto-glutamine analogues with a phthalhydrazido group at the  $\alpha$ -position as reversible inhibitors of the SARS 3CLpro. Liu et al. (2005) found several noncovalent inhibitors of SARS 3CLpro using virtual screen by molecular docking of chemical databases. One of the most potent inhibitors was calmidazolium, a well known antagonist of calmodulin. The antiviral activities of these compounds against SARS-CoV in vitro and in vivo remain to be elucidated.

# 9. SARS-CoV entry inhibitors

The entry process of enveloped viruses including coronaviruses usually involves three steps including attachment, receptor binding and virus-cell fusion which are mediated by viral envelope proteins (Gallagher and Buchmeier, 2001). The spike (S)-protein of SARS-CoV, a type I membrane-bound protein, is essential for the viral attachment to the host cell receptor and cell fusion. Its precursor proS is divided into S1 and S2 subunits. The interaction of S1 subunit with the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), a functional receptor for SARS-CoV, is required for receptor binding to permissive cells (Li et al., 2003). S2, the transmembrane subunit of S, plays a crucial role in the virus-cell fusion process (Kliger and Levanon, 2003; Spiga et al., 2003).

Human monoclonal antibodies against the S1 proteins (see below) block the association of SARS-CoV with ACE2, indicating that the ACE2-binding site of S1 could be a target for drug development (Sui et al., 2004). (S,S)-2-[1-carboxy-2-(3-(3,5-dichloro-benzyl)-3H-imidazol-4-yl)-ethylamino]-4methyl-pentanoic acid (MLN-4760) is the first smallmolecular-weight inhibitor that was found to interact with the ACE2 active catalytic site (Towler et al., 2004), whether MLN-4760 inhibits SARS-CoV infection remains to be elucidated. Huentelman et al. (2004) screened approximately 140,000 small molecules by in silico molecular docking approach. This approach identified N-(2-aminoethyl)-1 aziridine-ethamine (NAAE) as a novel ACE2 inhibitor that also is effective in blocking the SARS-CoV spike protein-mediated cell fusion. The development of ACE2 inhibitors as antiviral drugs may be limited by the fact that SARS-CoV uses different alternative cellular receptors. For example, in addition to ACE2 a cellular glycoprotein CD209L (also called L-SIGN, DC-SIGNR, or DC-SIGN2) was identified as receptor for SARS-CoV (Jeffers et al., 2004).

SARS-CoV S-protein pseudotype virus vectors were prepared for functional studies of the SARS-CoV cellular tropism and entry into permissive cells (Giroglou et al., 2004; Yi et al., 2004). Yi et al. (2004) used an HIV-luc/SARS-CoV pseudotype virus in a two-step screening method consisting of frontal affinity chromatography-mass spectrometry coupled with a viral infection assay for the identification of SARS-CoV entry inhibitors. The Chinese herbal medicinebased approach identified two small molecules tetra-Ogalloyl-β-D-glucose (TGG) and luteolin as potent SARS-CoV inhibitors. TGG exhibited prominent anti-SARS-CoV activity (IC<sub>50</sub> =  $2.86 \mu M$ ) and a selectivity index of 240. Luteolin exerted a selectivity index of 14.6. Quercetin, which is structurally related to luteolin showed also inhibitory activity on the cellular entry of SARS-CoV. Quercetin is approved as ingredient of antioxidant and antiallergic medicine in many countries. Thus, it offers great promise as a potential drug for the clinical treatment of SARS. Since TGG and luteolin were identified through analysis of their binding to the S2 protein of SARS-CoV, these small molecules most likely work through their ability to block virus entry by interfering with the fusion process (Yi et al., 2004).

Further, important targets for antiviral drugs that interfere with the fusion process are heptad repeat regions (HRs) located in the S2 protein (Bosch et al., 2004). At least two HRs (HR1, HR3) are a common feature of type I membrane glycoproteins of enveloped viruses such as coronavirus S-protein, influenzavirus hemaglutinin, the HIV-1 *env*, and the paramyxovirus F protein (Lescar et al., 2001). After virus binding to the receptor or because of protonation during endocytosis, class I fusion proteins proceed through a series of conformational changes to mediate membrane fusion with the host cell. Peptides derived from the HR2 of the S2 protein were shown to inhibit SARS-CoV infection, albeit at much higher concentrations than similar inhibitors needed to prevent HIV entry (Bosch et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2004b).

# 10. Other anti-SARS-CoV compounds

Many nucleoside analogues were tested with the aim to inhibit SARS-CoV RNA polymerase (Xu et al., 2003). However, only  $\beta$ -D- $N^4$ -hydroxycytidine showed activity against SARS-CoV replication in cell culture at a low level (EC50 of 10  $\mu$ M; selectivity index  $\geq$  10) (Barnard et al., 2004). Two nucleoside analogues 6-azauridine and pyrazofurine, that are inhibitors of orotidine monophosphate decarboxylase, inhibited replication of SARS-CoV in Vero cells at non-toxic doses with selectivity indices of 5 and 12, respectively (Cinatl et al., 2003a). Although these drugs are probably too toxic for treatment of SARS patients they may represent lead compounds for the development of more potent anti-SARS-CoV agents.

In addition to the substances discussed above (e.g. glycyrrhizin, luteolin, TGG), numerous small molecules of herbal origin were shown to have some activity against SARS-CoV. Especially, some components of traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) were found to be effective inhibitors of SARS-CoV replication in vitro. This may explain some beneficial effects of TCM observed in patients with SARS (Zhang et al., 2004a; Liu et al., 2004a). For example, baicalin (flavonoid derived from Scutellaria baicalensis) inhibited SARS-CoV replication in Vero cells at concentrations which may be achievable in vivo after intravenous administration (Chen et al., 2004a). Other herbal constituents such as ginsenoside-Rb1 (one of the pharmacologically active components of TCM herb, *Panax ginseng*), aescin (the major active principle from the horse chestnut tree) or reserpine (a naturally occurring alkaloid produced by several members of the genus Rauwolfia) inhibited SARS-CoV replication at non-toxic concentrations (Wu et al., 2004c).

Inhibitory effects on SARS-CoV replication with relatively high selectivity indices were reported for different substances. Geldanamycin, a ligand of heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90) inhibited SARS-CoV replication with a selectivity index of  $\geq 300$  (EC<sub>50</sub> = 0.91  $\mu$ M) (Li et al., 2004). Geldanamycin is a product of S. Hygroscopicus. Interference with a cellular chaperone Hsp90 seems to be the major mechanism of its cytotoxic and antiviral action (Workman, 2004; Li et al., 2004). The geldanamycin analogue 17AAG (17allylamino, 17-demethoxygeldanamycin) which had been developed for the treatment of malignant diseases is well tolerated by patients in clinical trials (Workman, 2004). Chloroquine showed anti-SARS-CoV activity in Vero E6 cells with a selectivity index of about 30 (EC<sub>50</sub> =  $8.8 \mu M$ ) (Keyaerts et al., 2004). The EC<sub>50</sub> of chloroquine in cell culture is below (1000fold) the concentrations of chloroquine that are reached in human plasma, following treatment for acute malaria at a dose of 25 mg/kg for 3 days (Charmot and Coulaud, 1990).

Other promising anti-SARS-CoV agents include aglycon derivatives of the antibiotics vancomycin, eremomycin, and teicoplanin (Balzarini et al., 2004a), mannose-specific plant lectins derived from *Galanthus nivalis* (snowdrop) and *Hippeastrum* hybrid (amaryllis) (Balzarini et al., 2004b) or *Allium porrum* (leek) (Vijgen et al., 2004). Aurintricarboxylic acid inhibited SARS-CoV replication in Vero cells with a selectivity index of  $\geq 100$  (EC50 = 200 µg/ml) (He et al., 2004). Low toxicity in vitro and in vivo justifies further investigation to show whether these substances may have a potential as anti-SARS-CoV medicine (De Clercq, 2004).

Short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) that inhibit the expression specific viral genes also seem to be effective in decreasing SARS-CoV replication in cell lines (Zhang et al., 2003b, 2004b; He et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2004b; Wu et al., 2005). Recent observation in the mouse model demonstrated that diseases of the airways caused by influenza virus, respiratory syncytial virus and/or parainfluenza virus infection can be specifically prevented by siRNAs, instilled intranasally with or without transfection reagents (Ge et al., 2004; Tompkins

et al., 2004; Bitko et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2005). These findings suggest that if properly designed, low dosages of inhaled siRNAs might offer a specific, fast, potent, and easily applicable antiviral regimen against respiratory viral diseases in humans.

#### 11. Antiviral antibodies

Different groups in Hong Kong and other localities used plasma donated by patients who had recovered from SARS (Soo et al., 2004; Wong et al., 2003). When administered to SARS patients, human convalescent plasma apparently had a beneficial effect if used relatively early in the course of illness (Cheng et al., 2005). Similar to all therapeutic SARS studies, these observations suffer from a lack of randomisation and control, a problem that should be addressed in preparation for future outbreaks of SARS and other novel infectious diseases (Muller et al., 2004). Nevertheless, based on these preliminary positive findings, it was suggested that SARS hyperimmune globulin containing high titres of SARS-CoVneutralising antibodies should be produced and stored for the use in possible future outbreaks (Burnouf and Radosevich, 2003; Ali, 2003). The rationale behind these suggestions was strengthened by prophylactic antibody use in mice (Subbarao et al., 2004).

Several groups have produced and characterised monoclonal SARS-CoV-neutralising antibodies, with the aim to find an immunoprophylactic agent with immediate protective and possibly therapeutic efficacy.

Traggiai et al. (2004) analysed the memory repertoire of a patient who recovered from SARS. The patient's B cells were transformed and 35 different antibodies were isolated that neutralised SARS-CoV in concentrations ranging from  $10^{-8}$  to  $10^{-11}$  M by recognising different antigens. In addition, one antibody that binds to the SARS-CoV S-protein, inhibited SARS-CoV infection in mice when applied prior to infection.

The 80R antibody described by Sui et al. (2004) neutralises SARS-CoV in vitro. It binds the S1 domain of the SARS-CoV spike protein, competing with the soluble ACE2 which is a SARS-CoV receptor. The authors therefore conclude that the 80R human monoclonal antibody may have clinical uses as a viral entry inhibitor.

Greenough et al. (2005) demonstrated the protective efficacy of two monoclonal antibodies that were applied prophylactically to mice. They are planning to conduct clinical trials using MAb 201, a human monoclonal antibody directed against an epitope within the receptor-binding region.

Using antibody phage display technology and screening a large naive antibody library for reactivity with whole inactivated Sars-CoV, van den Brink et al. (2005) selected eight human monoclonal antibodies of which three – all directed against epitopes located within the minimal ACE2 receptor-binding region of the S-protein – were able to neutralise SARS-CoV in vitro. The antibody with the highest potency, CR3014, was assessed for its prophylactic efficacy in vivo

using the ferret model of SARS-CoV infection (ter Meulen et al., 2004). A dose of 10 mg/kg of CR3014, injected intraperitoneally, significantly reduced SARS-CoV replication in the animals' lungs, prevented the development of macroscopically visible SARS-CoV lung lesions, and viral shedding from the pharynx.

Thus, human monoclonal SARS-CoV-neutralising antibodies may potentially be used to prevent infection in individuals exposed to SARS-CoV, and might also be useful for the early treatment of SARS patients to reduce the severity of illness and the likelihood of SARS-CoV transmission to others. However, dose-response and safety studies still need to be conducted. Moreover, studies addressing the efficacy and safety of administering neutralising antibodies to patients with established infections are outstanding (Foxwell and Cripps, 2004). Substantial functional changes were detected in spike glycoprotein of SARS-CoV isolates obtained from a SARS case in late 2003 from Guangdong province S(GD03T0013) and from two palm civets (S(SZ3), S(SZ16)). S(GD03T0013) depends less on the ACE2 receptor and was markedly resistant to antibody inhibition (Yang et al., 2005). Human antibodies that neutralised pseudotyped lentiviruses expressing S glycoproteins derived from most human SARS-CoV isolates enhanced entry of two pseudoviruses derived from the civet virus S glycoproteins. The mechanism of enhancement involved the interaction of antibodies with conformational epitopes in the ACE2 binding domain. These data show that the entry of SARS-CoVs can be enhanced by antibodies, and they underscore the need to address the evolving diversity of this newly emerged virus for immune therapies (Yang et al., 2005). It has to be borne in mind that in the case of respiratory syncytial virus infection a clinically available humanised monoclonal antibody, palivizumab, has prophylactic efficacy but has been disappointing as a treatment for established infections (Rodriguez et al., 1997).

#### 12. Identification of drug candidates for clinical trials

Numerous substances were identified as promising anti-SARS-CoV agents in in vitro-experiments. However, data about anti-SARS-CoV activity strongly differs between different laboratories. Therefore, agents found to inhibit SARS-CoV replication by different independent laboratories should be preferentially considered for clinical trials. Type I interferons were consistently found to inhibit SARS-CoV replication in vitro by many independent researchers (Cinatl et al., 2003b; Hensley et al., 2004; Spiegel et al., 2004; Tan et al., 2004a,b; Chen et al., 2004a; Sainz et al., 2004; Scagnolari et al., 2004; Dahl et al., 2004). Those agents should be further evaluated in predictive animal models. Established animal models include cynomolgous macaques (Fouchier et al., 2003; Kuiken et al., 2003; Rowe et al., 2004), ferrets (Martina et al., 2003), domestic cats (Martina et al., 2003), mice (BALB/c) (Subbarao et al., 2004), African green monkeys (Bukreyev et al., 2004), and Golden Syrian hamsters (Buchholz et al., 2004; Roberts et al., 2005). Animal models were already used to demonstrate the antiviral activity of therapeutic antibodies (ter Meulen et al., 2004; Traggiai et al., 2004). Cynomolgous macaques and ferrets developed lung pathology (Fouchier et al., 2003; Kuiken et al., 2003; Rowe et al., 2004; Martina et al., 2003), whereas no clinical disease was detected in African green monkeys or domestic cats (Martina et al., 2003; Bukreyev et al., 2004). Small animal models are of special interest for the evaluation of antiviral drugs. SARS-CoV-infection of Golden Syrian hamsters represents an auspicious small animal model for SARS. In contrast to the mouse model, SARS-CoV replicates to a higher titre and for a longer duration in the respiratory tract of hamsters and is accompanied by significant pathology. Moreover, viraemia and extrapulmonary spread of SARS-CoV to liver and spleen are seen in hamsters but not in mice (Roberts et al., 2005).

#### 13. Conclusion

Currently, there is no antiviral therapy of proven value in SARS-CoV disease. A number of potential anti-SARS agents have been identified. Inconsistent results between different groups investigating the same compound show the need for standardisation of in vitro susceptibility testing methods and for the determination of correlation between in vitro and in vivo antiviral activities. Therefore, one of the important fields in the search for SARS antiviral therapy should be to validate predictive correlation between in vitro activity and antiviral effects in relevant animal models that reflect the situation of SARS-CoV-infected humans.

For possible future, SARS outbreaks clinical protocols are needed to rapidly assess the clinical value of antivirals. Therefore, scientists involved in SARS research should cooperate to identify the most promising antiviral strategies that should be clinically evaluated in a rational effort to offer SARS patient the best available treatment.

# References

- Adler, H., Beland, J.L., Del-Pan, N.C., Kobzik, L., Brewer, J.P., Martin, T.R., Rimm, I.J., 1997. Suppression of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1)-induced pneumonia in mice by inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS, NOS2). J. Exp. Med. 185, 1533–1540.
- Akaike, T., Noguchi, Y., Ijiri, S., Setoguchi, K., Suga, M., Zheng, Y.M., Dietzschold, B., Maeda, H., 1996. Pathogenesis of influenza virusinduced pneumonia: involvement of both nitric oxide and oxygen radicals. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93, 2448–2453.
- Akerstrom, S., Mousavi-Jazi, M., Klingstrom, J., Leijon, M., Lundkvist, A., Mirazimi, A., 2005. Nitric oxide inhibits the replication cycle of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. J. Virol. 79, 1966–1969.
- Ali, M.B., 2003. Treating severe acute respiratory syndrome with hyperimmune globulins. Hong Kong Med. J. 9, 391–392.
- Anand, K., Ziebuhr, J., Wadhwani, P., Mesters, J.R., Hilgenfeld, R., 2003. Coronavirus main proteinase (3CLpro) structure: basis for design of anti-SARS drugs. Science 300, 1763–1767.

- Andre, P., Groettrup, M., Klenerman, P., de Giuli, R., Booth Jr., B.L., Cerundolo, V., Bonneville, M., Jotereau, F., Zinkernagel, R.M., Lotteau, V., 1998. An inhibitor of HIV-1 protease modulates proteasome activity, antigen presentation, and T cell responses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 13120–13124.
- Avendano, M., Derkach, P., Swan, S., 2003. Clinical course and management of SARS in health care workers in Toronto: a case series. CMAJ 168, 1649–1660.
- Bacha, U., Barrila, J., Velazquez-Campoy, A., Leavitt, S.A., Freire, E., 2004. Identification of novel inhibitors of the SARS coronavirus main protease 3CLpro. Biochemistry 43, 4906–4912.
- Baltina, L.A., 2003. Chemical modification of glycyrrhizic acid as a route to new bioactive compounds for medicine. Curr. Med. Chem. 10, 155–171.
- Balzarini, J., Keyaerts, E., Vijgen, L., De Clercq, E., Printsevskaya, S.S., Preobrazhenskaya, M., Van Ranst, M., 2004a. Inhibitory activity of vancomycin, and teicoplanin aglycon derivatives against feline and human (i.e. SARS) coronaviruses. The 17th International Conference on Antiviral Research. Antiviral Res. 62, A59.
- Balzarini, J., Vijgen, L., Keyaerts, E., Van Damme, E., Peumans, W., De Clercq, E., Egberink, H., Van Ranst, M., 2004b. Mannose-specific plant lectins are potent inhibitors of coronavirus infection including the virus causing SARS. The 17th International Conference on Antiviral Research. Antiviral Res. 62, A76.
- Barnard, D.L., Hubbard, V.D., Burton, J., Smee, D.F., Morrey, J.D., Otto, M.J., Sidwell, R.W., 2004. Inhibition of severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus (SARSCoV) by calpain inhibitors and beta-D-N4-hydroxycytidine. Antiviral Chem. Chemother. 15, 15–22
- Barnes, E., Salio, M., Cerundolo, V., Medlin, J., Murphy, S., Dusheiko, G., Klenerman, P., 2004. Impact of alpha interferon and ribavirin on the function of maturing dendritic cells. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 3382–3389.
- Berger, A., Drosten, C., Doerr, H.W., Sturmer, M., Preiser, W., 2004. Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS)—paradigm of an emerging viral infection. J. Clin. Virol. 29, 13–22.
- Biswas, S., Harris, F., Dennison, S., Singh, J., Phoenix, D.A., 2004. Calpains: targets of cataract prevention? Trends Mol. Med. 10, 78–84.
- Bitko, V., Musiyenko, A., Shulyayeva, O., Barik, S., 2005. Inhibition of respiratory viruses by nasally administered siRNA. Nat. Med. 11, 50–55
- Booth, C.M., Matukas, L.M., Tomlinson, G.A., Rachlis, A.R., Rose, D.B., Dwosh, H.A., Walmsley, S.L., Mazzulli, T., Avendano, M., Derkach, P., Ephtimios, I.E., Kitai, I., Mederski, B.D., Shadowitz, S.B., Gold, W.L., Hawryluck, L.A., Rea, E., Chenkin, J.S., Cescon, D.W., Poutanen, S.M., Detsky, A.S., 2003. Clinical features and short-term outcomes of 144 patients with SARS in the greater Toronto area. JAMA 289, 2801–2809.
- Bosch, B.J., Martina, B.E., Van Der Zee, R., Lepault, J., Haijema, B.J., Versluis, C., Heck, A.J., De Groot, R., Osterhaus, A.D., Rottier, P.J., 2004. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) infection inhibition using spike protein heptad repeat-derived peptides. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 8455–8460.
- Buchholz, U.J., Bukreyev, A., Yang, L., Lamirande, E.W., Murphy, B.R., Subbarao, K., Collins, P.L., 2004. Contributions of the structural proteins of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus to protective immunity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 9804–9809.
- Bukreyev, A., Lamirande, E.W., Buchholz, U.J., Vogel, L.N., Elkins, W.R., St Claire, M., Murphy, B.R., Subbarao, K., Collins, P.L., 2004. Mucosal immunisation of African green monkeys (*Cercopithecus aethiops*) with an attenuated parainfluenza virus expressing the SARS coronavirus spike protein for the prevention of SARS. Lancet 363, 2122–2127.
- Burnouf, T., Radosevich, M., 2003. Treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome with convalescent plasma. Hong Kong Med. J. 9, 309.
- Cameron, C.E., Castro, C., 2001. The mechanism of action of ribavirin: lethal mutagenesis of RNA virus genomes mediated by the viral

- RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis. 14, 757–764.
- Cavanagh, D., 2003. Severe acute respiratory syndrome vaccine development: experiences of vaccination against avian infectious bronchitis coronavirus. Avian Pathol. 32, 567–582.
- Chan, K.S., Lai, S.T., Chu, C.M., Tsui, E., Tam, C.Y., Wong, M.M., Tse, M.W., Que, T.L., Peiris, J.S., Sung, J., Wong, V.C., Yuen, K.Y., 2003. Treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome with lopinavir/ritonavir: a multicentre retrospective matched cohort study. Hong Kong Med. J. 9, 399–406.
- Charmot, G., Coulaud, J.P., 1990. Treatment of *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria in Africa (except cerebral malaria). Med. Trop. 50, 103– 108
- Chen, X.P., Li, G.H., Tang, X.P., Xiong, Y., Chen, X.J., Cao, Y., 2003. Lack of severe acute respiratory syndrome in 19 AIDS patients hospitalized together. J. Acquir. Immune. Defic. Syndr. 34, 242–243.
- Chen, X.P., Cao, Y., 2004. Consideration of highly active antiretroviral therapy in the prevention and treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome. Clin. Infect. Dis. 38, 1030–1032.
- Chen, F., Chan, K.H., Jiang, Y., Kao, R.Y., Lu, H.T., Fan, K.W., Cheng, V.C., Tsui, W.H., Hung, I.F., Lee, T.S., Guan, Y., Peiris, J.S., Yuen, K.Y., 2004a. In vitro susceptibility of 10 clinical isolates of SARS coronavirus to selected antiviral compounds. J. Clin. Virol. 31, 69–75.
- Chen, L., Liu, P., Gao, H., Sun, B., Chao, D., Wang, F., Zhu, Y., Hedenstierna, G., Wang, C.G., 2004b. Inhalation of nitric oxide in the treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome: a rescue trial in Beijing. Clin. Infect. Dis. 39, 1531–1535.
- Cheng, Y., Wong, R., Soo, Y.O., Wong, W.S., Lee, C.K., Ng, M.H., Chan, P., Wong, K.C., Leung, C.B., Cheng, G., 2005. Use of convalescent plasma therapy in SARS patients in Hong Kong. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 24, 44–46.
- Cherng, J.M., Lin, H.J., Hsu, Y.H., Hung, M.S., Lin, J.C., 2004. A quantitative bioassay for HIV-1 gene expression based on UV activation: effect of glycyrrhizic acid. Antiviral Res. 62, 27–36.
- Chu, C.M., Poon, L.L., Cheng, V.C., Chan, K.S., Hung, I.F., Wong, M.M., Chan, K.H., Leung, W.S., Tang, B.S., Chan, V.L., Ng, W.L., Sim, T.C., Ng, P.W., Law, K.I., Tse, D.M., Peiris, J.S., Yuen, K.Y., 2004a. Initial viral load and the outcomes of SARS. CMAJ 171, 1349–1352.
- Chu, C.M., Cheng, V.C., Hung, I.F., Wong, M.M., Chan, K.H., Chan, K.S., Kao, R.Y., Poon, L.L., Wong, C.L., Guan, Y., Peiris, J.S., Yuen, K.Y., 2004b. HKU/UCH SARS Study Group: role of lopinavir/ritonavir in the treatment of SARS: initial virological and clinical findings. Thorax 59, 252–256.
- Cinatl, J., Morgenstern, B., Bauer, G., Chandra, P., Rabenau, H., Doerr, H.W., 2003a. Glycyrrhizin, an active component of liquorice roots, and replication of SARS-associated coronavirus. Lancet 361, 2045–2046.
- Cinatl, J., Morgenstern, B., Bauer, G., Chandra, P., Rabenau, H., Doerr, H.W., 2003b. Treatment of SARS with human interferons. Lancet 362, 293–294.
- Cinatl Jr., J., Hoever, G., Morgenstern, B., Preiser, W., Voge, J.U., Hofmann, W.K., Bauer, G., Michaelis, M., Rabenau, H.F., Doerr, H.W., 2004a. Infection of cultured intestinal epithelial cells with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. Cell. Mol. Life. Sci. 61, 2100–2112.
- Cinatl Jr., J., Michaelis, M., Scholz, M., Doerr, H.W., 2004b. Role of interferons in the treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome. Exp. Opin. Biol. Ther. 4, 827–836.
- Cinatl Jr., J., Michaelis, M., Morgenstern, B., Doerr, H.W., 2005. High-dose hydrocortisone reduces expression of the pro-inflammatory chemokines CXCL8 and CXCL10 in SARS coronavirus-infected intestinal cells. Int. J. Mol. Med. 15, 323–327.
- Collins, A.R., 1995. Interferon gamma potentiates human coronavirus OC43 infection of neuronal cells by modulation of HLA class I expression. Immunol. Invest. 24, 977–986.
- Crance, J.M., Scaramozzino, N., Jouan, A., Garin, D., 2003. Interferon, ribavirin, 6-azauridine and glycyrrhizin: antiviral compounds active against pathogenic flaviviruses. Antiviral Res. 58, 73–79.

- Cuzzocrea, S., Chatterjee, P.K., Mazzon, E., Serraino, I., Dugo, L., Centorrino, T., Barbera, A., Ciccolo, A., Fulia, F., McDonald, M.C., Caputi, A.P., Thiemermann, C., 2002. Effects of calpain inhibitor I on multiple organ failure induced by zymosan in the rat. Crit. Care. Med. 30, 2284–2294.
- Dahl, H., Linde, A., Strannegard, O., 2004. In vitro inhibition of SARS virus replication by human interferons. Scand. J. Infect. Dis. 36, 829–831.
- De Clercq, E., Cools, M., Balzarini, J., Snoeck, R., Andrei, G., Hosoya, M., Shigeta, S., Ueda, T., Minakawa, N., Matsuda, A., 1991. Antiviral activities of 5-ethynyl-1-beta-p-ribofuranosylimidazole-4-carboxamide and related compounds. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 35, 679–684
- DeBiasi, R.L., Squier, M.K., Pike, B., Wynes, M., Dermody, T.S., Cohen, J.J., Tyler, K.L., 1999. Reovirus-induced apoptosis is preceded by increased cellular calpain activity and is blocked by calpain inhibitors. J. Virol. 73, 695–701.
- DeBiasi, R.L., Edelstein, C.L., Sherry, B., Tyler, K.L., 2001. Calpain inhibition protects against virus-induced apoptotic myocardial injury. J. Virol. 75, 351–361.
- De Clercq, E., 2004. Antivirals and antiviral strategies. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2, 704–720.
- Doerr, H.W., Michaelis, M., Hover, G., Morgenstern, B., Cinatl Jr., J., 2003. Development of glycyrrhizin for the treatment of SARS. In: Annual Meeting of "The Society of Infectious and Parasitic Diseases", Chinese Medical Association, Wuhan, China.
- Drosten, C., Gunther, S., Preiser, W., van der Werf, S., Brodt, H.R., Becker, S., Rabenau, H., Panning, M., Kolesnikova, L., Fouchier, R.A., Berger, A., Burguiere, A.M., Cinatl, J., Eickmann, M., Escriou, N., Grywna, K., Kramme, S., Manuguerra, J.C., Muller, S., Rickerts, V., Sturmer, M., Vieth, S., Klenk, H.D., Osterhaus, A.D., Schmitz, H., Doerr, H.W., 2003. Identification of a novel coronavirus in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 1967–1976.
- Dwosh, H.A., Hong, H.H., Austgarden, D., Herman, S., Schabas, R., 2003. Identification and containment of an outbreak of SARS in a community hospital. CMAJ 168, 1415–1420.
- Equils, O., Shapiro, A., Madak, Z., Liu, C., Lu, D., 2004. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 protease inhibitors block toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2)- and TLR4-induced NF-kappaB activation. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 3905–3911.
- Fan, K., Wei, P., Feng, Q., Chen, S., Huang, C., Ma, L., Lai, B., Pei, J., Liu, Y., Chen, J., Lai, L., 2004. Biosynthesis, purification, and substrate specificity of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 3C-like proteinase. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 1637–1642.
- Foster, G.R., 2004. Past, present, and future hepatitis C treatments. Semin. Liver. Dis. 24 (Suppl. 2), 97–104.
- Fouchier, R.A., Kuiken, T., Schutten, M., van Amerongen, G., van Doornum, G.J., van den Hoogen, B.G., Peiris, M., Lim, W., Stohr, K., Osterhaus, A.D., 2003. Aetiology: Koch's postulates fulfilled for SARS virus. Nature 423, 240.
- Foxwell, A.R., Cripps, A.W., 2004. Mucosal immunisation and immunoprophylaxis as potential strategies for prevention of SARS. Lancet 363, 2102–2103.
- Fuchizaki, U., Kaneko, S., Nakamoto, Y., Sugiyama, Y., Imagawa, K., Kikuchi, M., Kobayashi, K., 2003. Synergistic antiviral effect of a combination of mouse interferon-α and interferon-γ on mouse hepatitis virus. J. Med. Virol. 69, 188–194.
- Fujii, T., Nakamura, T., Iwamoto, A., 2004. Current concepts in SARS treatment. J. Infect. Chemother. 10, 1–7.
- Gallagher, T.M., Buchmeier, M.J., 2001. Coronavirus spike proteins in viral entry and pathogenesis. Virology 279, 371–374.
- Ge, Q., Filip, L., Bai, A., Nguyen, T., Eisen, H.N., Chen, J., 2004. Inhibition of influenza virus production in virus-infected mice by RNA interference. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 8676–8781.
- Ghibelli, L., Mengoni, F., Lichtner, M., Coppola, S., De Nicola, M., Bergamaschi, A., Mastroianni, C., Vullo, V., 2003. Antiapoptotic

- effect of HIV protease inhibitors via direct inhibition of calpain. Biochem. Pharmacol. 66, 1505–1512.
- Giroglou, T., Cinatl Jr., J., Rabenau, H., Drosten, C., Schwalbe, H., Doerr, H.W., von Laer, D., 2004. Retroviral vectors pseudotyped with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus S protein. J. Virol. 78, 9007–9015.
- Greenough, T.C., Babcock, G.J., Roberts, A., Hernandez, H.J., Thomas Jr., W.D., Coccia, J.A., Graziano, R.F., Srinivasan, M., Lowy, I., Finberg, R.W., Subbarao, K., Vogel, L., Somasundaran, M., Luzuriaga, K., Sullivan, J.L., Ambrosino, D.M., 2005. Development and characterization of a severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus-neutralizing human monoclonal antibody that provides effective immunoprophylaxis in mice. J. Infect. Dis. 191, 507–514.
- Haagmans, B.L., Kuiken, T., Martina, B.E., Fouchier, R.A., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., van Amerongen, G., van Riel, D., de Jong, T., Itamura, S., Chan, K.H., Tashiro, M., Osterhaus, A.D., 2004. Pegylated interferon-alpha protects type 1 pneumocytes against SARS coronavirus infection in macaques. Nat. Med. 10, 290–293.
- Haiying, L., Na, H., Xiaoyuan, X., 2003. The curative effects of glycyrrhizin on patients with SARS. In: Annual Meeting of "The Society of Infectious and Parasitic Diseases", Chinese Medical Association, Wuhan, China.
- Harada, S., Karino, A., Shimoyama, Y., Shamsa, F., Ohtsuki, K., 1996. Identification of glycyrrhizin-binding protein kinase as casein kinase II and characterization of its associated phosphate acceptors in mouse liver. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 227, 102–109.
- He, M.L., Zheng, B., Peng, Y., Peiris, J.S., Poon, L.L., Yuen, K.Y., Lin, M.C., Kung, H.F., Guan, Y., 2003. Inhibition of SARS-associated coronavirus infection and replication by RNA interference. JAMA 290, 2665–2666.
- He, R., Adonov, A., Traykova-Adonova, M., Cao, J., Cutts, T., Grudesky, E., Deschambaul, Y., Berry, J., Drebot, M., Li, X., 2004. Potent and selective inhibition of SARS coronavirus replication by aurintricarboxylic acid. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 320, 1199–1203.
- Hensley, L.E., Fritz, L.E., Jahrling, P.B., Karp, C.L., Huggins, J.W., Geisbert, T.W., 2004. Interferon-beta 1a and SARS coronavirus replication. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 10, 317–319.
- Hoever, G., Baltina, L., Michaelis, M., Kondratenko, R., Baltina Jr., L., Tolstikov, G.A., Doerr, H.W., Cinatl Jr., J., 2005. Antiviral activity of Glycyrrhizic Acid (GL) derivatives against SARS-Coronavirus (SARS-CoV). J. Med. Chem. 48, 1256–1259.
- Hong, Z., Cameron, C.E., 2002. Pleiotropic mechanisms of ribavirin antiviral activities. Prog. Drug Res. 59, 41–69.
- Hsu, L.Y., Lee, C.C., Green, J.A., Ang, B., Paton, N.I., Lee, L., Villacian, J.S., Lim, P.L., Earnest, A., Leo, Y.S., 2003. Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in Singapore: clinical features of index patient and initial contacts. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 9, 713–717.
- Huentelman, M.J., Zubcevic, J., Prada, J.A., Xiao, X., Dimitrov, D.S., Raizada, M.K., Ostrov, D.A., 2004. Structure-based discovery of a novel angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 inhibitor. Hypertension 44, 903–906.
- Hugle, T., Cerny, A., 2003. Current therapy and new molecular approaches to antiviral treatment and prevention of Hepatitis C. Rev. Med. Virol. 13, 361–371.
- Hui, D.S., Wong, G.W., 2004. Advancements in the battle against severe acute respiratory syndrome. Expert Opin. Pharmacother. 5, 1687–1693.
- Hung, I.F., Cheng, V.C., Wu, A.K., Chan, K.H., Chu, C.M., Wong, M.M., Poon, L.L., Tse, D.M., Chan, K.S., Woo, P.C., Lau, S.K., Peiris, J.S., Yuen, K.Y., 2004. Viral loads in clinical specimens and SARS manifestations. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 10, 1550–1557.
- Hurst, M., Faulds, D., 2000. Lopinavir. Drugs 60, 1371-1379.
- Ignarro, L.J., 2000. Introduction and overview. In: Ignarro, L.J. (Ed.), Nitric Oxide: Biology and Pathobiogy. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, pp. 3–19.
- Jain, R.P., Pettersson, H.I., Zhang, J., Aull, K.D., Fortin, P.D., Huitema, C., Eltis, L.D., Parrish, J.C., James, M.N., Wishart, D.S., Vederas,

- J.C., 2004. Synthesis and evaluation of keto-glutamine analogues as potent inhibitors of severe acute respiratory syndrome 3CLpro. J. Med. Chem. 47, 6113–6116
- Jeffers, S.A., Tusell, S.M., Gillim-Ross, L., Hemmila, E.M., Achenbach, J.E., Babcock, G.J., Thomas Jr., W.D., Thackray, L.B., Young, M.D., Mason, R.J., Ambrosino, D.M., Wentworth, D.E., Demartini, J.C., Holmes, K.V., 2004. CD209L (L-SIGN) is a receptor for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 15748–15753.
- Katze, M.G., He, Y., Gale Jr., M., 2002. Viruses and interferon: a fight for supremacy. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2, 675–687.
- Keyaerts, E., Vijgen, L., Maes, P., Neyts, J., Van Ranst, M., 2004. In vitro inhibition of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus by chloroquine. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 323, 264–268.
- Kliger, Y., Levanon, E.Y., 2003. Cloaked similarity between HIV-1 and SARS-CoV suggests an anti-SARS strategy. BMC Microbiol. 3, 20.
- Knowles, S.R., Phillips, E.J., Dresser, L., Matukas, L., 2003. Common adverse events associated with the use of ribavirin for severe acute respiratory syndrome in Canada. Clin. Infect. Dis. 37, 1139–1142.
- Koren, G., King, S., Knowles, S., Phillips, E., 2003. Ribavirin in the treatment of SARS: a new trick for an old drug? CMAJ 168, 1289–1292.
- Ksiazek, T.G., Erdman, D., Goldsmith, C.S., Zaki, S.R., Peret, T., Emery, S., Tong, S., Urbani, C., Comer, J.A., Lim, W., Rollin, P.E., Dowell, S.F., Ling, A.E., Humphrey, C.D., Shieh, W.J., Guarner, J., Paddock, C.D., Rota, P., Fields, B., DeRisi, J., Yang, J.Y., Cox, N., Hughes, J.M., LeDuc, J.W., Bellini, W.J., Anderson, L.J., SARS Working Group, 2003. A novel coronavirus associated with severe acute respiratory syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 1953–1966.
- Kuiken, T., Fouchier, R.A., Schutten, M., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., van Amerongen, G., van Riel, D., Laman, J.D., de Jong, T., van Doornum, G., Lim, W., Ling, A.E., Chan, P.K., Tam, J.S., Zambon, M.C., Gopal, R., Drosten, C., van der Werf, S., Escriou, N., Manuguerra, J.C., Stohr, K., Peiris, J.S., Osterhaus, A.D., 2003. Newly discovered coronavirus as the primary cause of severe acute respiratory syndrome. Lancet 362, 263–270.
- Lampi, G., Deidda, D., Pinza, M., Pompei, R., 2001. Enhancement of anti-herpetic activity of glycyrrhizic acid by physiological proteins. Antiviral Chem. Chemother. 12, 125–131.
- Lane, T.E., Paoletti, A.D., Buchmeier, M.J., 1997. Disassociation between the in vitro and in vivo effects of nitric oxide on a neurotropic murine coronavirus. J. Virol. 71, 2202–2210.
- Lee, N., Allen Chan, K.C., Hui, D.S., Ng, E.K., Wu, A., Chiu, R.W., Wong, V.W., Chan, P.K., Wong, K.T., Wong, E., Cockram, C.S., Tam, J.S., Sung, J.J., Lo, Y.M., 2004. Effects of early corticosteroid treatment on plasma SARS-associated Coronavirus RNA concentrations in adult patients. J. Clin. Virol. 31, 304–309.
- Lee, J., Jung, E., Park, J., Jung, K., Park, E., Kim, J., Hong, S., Park, J., Park, S., Lee, S., Park, D., 2005. Glycyrrhizin induces melanogenesis by elevating a cAMP level in b16 melanoma cells. J. Invest. Dermatol. 124, 405–411.
- Lescar, J., Roussel, A., Wien, M.W., Navaza, J., Fuller, S.D., Wengler, G., Rey, F.A., 2001. The Fusion glycoprotein shell of Semliki Forest virus: an icosahedral assembly primed for fusogenic activation at endosomal pH. Cell 105, 137–148.
- Levy, M.M., Baylor, M.S., Bernard, G.R., Fowler, R., Franks, T.J., Hayden, F.G., Helfand, R., Lapinsky, S.E., Martin, T.R., Niederman, M.S., Rubenfeld, G.D., Stewart, T.E., Styrt, B.A., Thompson, B.T., Harabin, A.L., 2005. Clinical issues and research in respiratory failure from severe acute respiratory syndrome. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care. Med. 171, 518–526.
- Leyssen, P., Balzarini, J., De Clercq, E., Neyts, J., 2005. The predominant mechanism by which ribavirin exerts its antiviral activity in vitro against flaviviruses and paramyxoviruses is mediated by inhibition of IMP dehydrogenase. J. Virol. 79, 1943–1947.
- Li, W., Moore, M.J., Vasilieva, N., Sui, J., Wong, S.K., Berne, M.A., Somasundaran, M., Sullivan, J.L., Luzuriaga, K., Greenough, T.C., Choe, H., Farzan, M., 2003. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is

- a functional receptor for the SARS coronavirus. Nature 426, 450-454
- Li, Y.H., Tao, P.Z., Liu, Y.Z., Jiang, J.D., 2004. Geldanamycin, a ligand of heat shock protein 90, inhibits the replication of herpes simplex virus type 1 in vitro. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 867– 872
- Lin, C.C., Luu, T., Lourenco, D., Yeh, L.T., Lau, J.Y., 2003a. Absorption, pharmacokinetics and excretion of levovirin in rats, dogs and cynomolgus monkeys. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 51, 93–99.
- Lin, C.C., Yeh, L.T., Vitarella, D., Hong, Z., 2003b. Viramidine, a prodrug of ribavirin, shows better liver-targeting properties and safety profiles than ribavirin in animals. Antiviral Chem. Chemother. 14, 145–152.
- Lin, J.C., 2003c. Mechanism of action of glycyrrhizic acid in inhibition of Epstein–Barr virus replication in vitro. Antiviral Res. 59, 41–47.
- Lin, C.C., Lourenco, D., Xu, G., Yeh, L.T., 2004a. Disposition and metabolic profiles of [14C]viramidine and [14C]ribavirin in rat and monkey red blood cells and liver. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 1872–1875.
- Lin, C.C., Philips, L., Xu, C., Yeh, L.T., 2004b. Pharmacokinetics and safety of viramidine, a prodrug of ribavirin, in healthy volunteers. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 44, 265–275.
- Liu, J., Manheimer, E., Shi, Y., Gluud, C., 2004a. Chinese herbal medicine for severe acute respiratory syndrome: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 10, 1041–1051.
- Liu, S., Xiao, G., Chen, Y., He, Y., Niu, J., Escalante, C.R., Xiong, H., Farmar, J., Debnath, A.K., Tien, P., Jiang, S., 2004b. Interaction between heptad repeat 1 and 2 regions in spike protein of SARSassociated coronavirus: implications for virus fusogenic mechanism and identification of fusion inhibitors. Lancet 363, 938–947.
- Liu, Z., Huang, C., Fan, K., Wei, P., Chen, H., Liu, S., Pei, J., Shi, L., Li, B., Yang, K., Liu, Y., Lai, L., 2005. Virtual screening of novel noncovalent inhibitors for SARS-CoV 3C-like proteinase. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 45, 10–17.
- Loutfy, M.R., Blatt, L.M., Siminovitch, K.A., Ward, S., Wolff, B., Lho, H., Pham, D.H., Deif, H., LaMere, E.A., Chang, M., Kain, K.C., Farcas, G.A., Ferguson, P., Latchford, M., Levy, G., Dennis, J.W., Lai, E.K., Fish, E.N., 2003. Interferon alfacon-1 plus corticosteroids in severe acute respiratory syndrome: a preliminary study. JAMA 290, 3222–3228.
- Lucchiari, M.A., Martin, J.P., Modell, M., Pereira, C.A., 1991. Acquired immunity of A/J mice to mouse hepatitis virus 3 infection: dependence on interferon-gamma synthesis and macrophage sensitivity to interferon-gamma. J. Gen. Virol. 72, 1317–1322.
- Marshall, E., Enserink, M., 2004. Medicine. Caution urged on SARS vaccines. Science 303, 944–946.
- Martina, B.E., Haagmans, B.L., Kuiken, T., Fouchier, R.A., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Van Amerongen, G., Peiris, J.S., Lim, W., Osterhaus, A.D., 2003. Virology: SARS virus infection of cats and ferrets. Nature 425, 915.
- Mazzulli, T., Farcas, G.A., Poutanen, S.M., Willey, B.M., Low, D.E., Butany, J., Asa, S.L., Kain, K.C., 2004a. Severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus in lung tissue. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 10, 20–24.
- Mazzulli, T., Kain, K., Butany, J., 2004b. Severe acute respiratory syndrome: overview with an emphasis on the Toronto experience. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 128, 1346–1350.
- McCormick, J.B., King, I.J., Webb, P.A., Scribner, C.L., Craven, R.B., Johnson, K.M., Elliott, L.H., Belmont-Williams, R., 1986. Lassa fever. Effective therapy with ribavirin. N. Engl. J. Med. 314, 20–26.
- Minigawa, H., Takenaka, A., Mohri, S., Mori, R., 1987. Protective effect of recombinant interferon beta against mouse hepatitis virus infection. Antiviral Res. 8, 85–95.
- Miyake, K., Tango, T., Ota, Y., Mitamura, K., Yoshiba, M., Kako, M., Hayashi, S., Ikeda, Y., Hayashida, N., Iwabuchi, S., Sato, Y., Tomi, T., Funaki, N., Hashimoto, N., Umeda, T., Miyazaki, J., Tanaka, K., Endo, Y., Suzuki, H., 2002. Efficacy of stronger neo-minophagen C compared between two doses administered three times a week on

- patients with chronic viral hepatitis. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 17, 1198-1204.
- Morgenstern, B., Michaelis, M., Baer, P.C., Doerr, H.W., Cinatl Jr., J., 2005. Ribavirin and interferon-beta synergistically inhibit SARSassociated coronavirus replication in animal and human cell lines. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 326, 905–909.
- Muller, M.P., McGeer, A., Straus, S.E., Hawryluck, L., Gold, W.L., 2004. Clinical trials and novel pathogens: lessons learned from SARS. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 10, 389–394.
- Murphy, A.W., Platts-Mills, T.A., Lobo, M., Hayden, F., 1998. Respiratory nitric oxide levels in experimental human influenza. Chest 114, 452–456.
- Neumar, R.W., Xu, Y.A., Gada, H., Guttmann, R.P., Siman, R., 2003. Cross-talk between calpain and caspase proteolytic systems during neuronal apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 14162–14167.
- Ning, Q., Brown, D., Parodo, J., Cattral, M., Gorczynski, R., Cole, E., Fung, L., Ding, J.W., Liu, M.F., Rotstein, O., Phillips, M.J., Levy, G., 1998. Ribavirin inhibits viral-induced macrophage production of TNF, IL-1, the procoagulant fgl2 prothrombinase and preserves Th1 cytokine production but inhibits Th2 cytokine response. J. Immunol. 160, 3487–3493.
- O'Brian, C.A., Ward, N.E., Vogel, V.G., 1990. Inhibition of protein kinase C by the 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate antagonist glycyrrhetic acid. Cancer Lett. 49, 9–12.
- Pei, J., Sekellick, M.J., Marcus, P.I., Choi, I.S., Collison, E.W., 2001. Chicken interferon type I inhibits infectious bronchitis virus replication and associated respiratory ilness. J. Interferon. Cytokine Res. 21, 1071–1077.
- Peiris, J.S., Chu, C.M., Cheng, V.C., Chan, K.S., Hung, I.F., Poon, L.L., Law, K.I., Tang, B.S., Hon, T.Y., Chan, C.S., Chan, K.H., Ng, J.S., Zheng, B.J., Ng, W.L., Lai, R.W., Guan, Y., Yuen, K.Y., HKU/UCH SARS Study Group, 2003a. Clinical progression and viral load in a community outbreak of coronavirus-associated SARS pneumonia: a prospective study. Lancet 361, 1767–1772.
- Peiris, J.S., Lai, S.T., Poon, L.L., Guan, Y., Yam, L.Y., Lim, W., Nicholls, J., Yee, W.K., Yan, W.W., Cheung, M.T., Cheng, V.C., Chan, K.H., Tsang, D.N., Yung, R.W., Ng, T.K., Yuen, K.Y., SARS Study Group, 2003b. Coronavirus as a possible cause of severe acute respiratory syndrome. Lancet 361, 1319–1325.
- Peiris, J.S., Yuen, K.Y., Osterhaus, A.D., Stohr, K., 2003c. The severe acute respiratory syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 349, 2431–2441.
- Peiris, J.S., Guan, Y., Yuen, K.Y., 2004. Severe acute respiratory syndrome. Nat. Med. 10, 88–97.
- Perrin, B.J., Huttenlocher, A., 2002. Calpain. Int. J. Biochem. Cell. Biol. 34, 722–725.
- Piccinini, M., Rinaudo, M.T., Chiapello, N., Ricotti, E., Baldovino, S., Mostert, M., Tovo, P.A., 2002. The human 26S proteasome is a target of antiretroviral agents. AIDS 16, 693–700.
- Pompei, R., Flore, O., Marccialis, M.A., Pani, A., Loddo, B., 1979. Glycyrrhizic acid inhibits virus growth and inactivates virus particles. Nature 281, 689–690.
- Pope, M., Marsden, P.A., Cole, E., Sloan, S., Fung, L.S., Ning, Q., Ding, J.W., Leibowitz, J.L., Phillips, M.J., Levy, G.A., 1998. Resistance to murine hepatitis virus strain 3 is dependent on production of nitric oxide. J. Virol. 72, 7084–7090.
- Ray, S.K., Hogan, E.L., Banik, N.L., 2003. Calpain in the pathophysiology of spinal cord injury: neuroprotection with calpain inhibitors. Brain Res. Rev. 42, 169–185.
- Reiss, C.S., Komatsu, T., 1998. Does nitric oxide play a critical role in viral infections? J. Virol. 72, 4547–4551.
- Roberts, A., Vogel, L., Guarner, J., Hayes, N., Murphy, B., Zaki, S., Subbarao, K., 2005. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection of golden Syrian hamsters. J. Virol. 79, 503–511.
- Rodriguez, W.J., Gruber, W.C., Welliver, R.C., Groothuis, J.R., Simoes, E.A., Meissner, H.C., Hemming, V.G., Hall, C.B., Lepow, M.L., Rosas, A.J., Robertsen, C., Kramer, A.A., 1997. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) immune globulin intravenous therapy for RSV lower res-

- piratory tract infection in infants and young children at high risk for severe RSV infections: Respiratory Syncytial Virus Immune Globulin Study Group. Pediatrics 99, 454–461.
- Rowe, T., Gao, G., Hogan, R.J., Crystal, R.G., Voss, T.G., Grant, R.L., Bell, P., Kobinger, G.P., Wivel, N.A., Wilson, J.M., 2004. Macaque model for severe acute respiratory syndrome. J. Virol. 78, 11401–11404.
- Sainz Jr., B., Mossel, E.C., Peters, C.J., Garry, R.F., 2004. Interferon-beta and interferon-gamma synergistically inhibit the replication of severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus (SARS-CoV). Virology 329, 11–17.
- Sasaki, H., Takei, M., Kobayashi, M., Pollard, R.B., Suzuki, F., 2003. Effect of glycyrrhizin, an active component of licorice roots, on HIV replication in cultures of peripheral blood mononuclear cells from HIV-seropositive patients. Pathobiology 70, 229–236.
- Scagnolari, C., Vicenzi, E., Bellomi, F., Stillitano, M.G., Pinna, D., Poli, G., Clementi, M., Dianzani, F., Antonelli, G., 2004. Increased sensitivity of SARS-coronavirus to a combination of human type I and type II interferons. Antiviral Ther. 9, 1003–1011.
- Sen, G.C., 2001. Viruses and interferons. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 55, 255–281.
- Shibata, S., 2000. A drug over the millennia: pharmacognosy, chemistry, and pharmacology of licorice. Yakugaku Zasshi 120, 849–862.
- Sidwell, R.W., Huffman, J.H., Khare, G.P., Allen, L.B., Witkowski, J.T., Robins, R.K., 1972. Broad-spectrum antiviral activity of Virazole: 1-beta-p-ribofuranosyl-1,2,4-triazole-3-carboxamide. Science 177, 705–706
- Sidwell, R.W., Huffman, J.H., Campbell, N., Allen, L.B., 1977. Effect of ribavirin on viral hepatitis in laboratory animals. Annu. NY Acad. Sci. 284, 239–246.
- So, L.K., Lau, A.C., Yam, L.Y., Cheung, T.M., Poon, E., Yung, R.W., Yuen, K.Y., 2003. Development of a standard treatment protocol for severe acute respiratory syndrome. Lancet 361, 1615–1617.
- Soo, Y.O., Cheng, Y., Wong, R., Hui, D.S., Lee, C.K., Tsang, K.K., Ng, M.H., Chan, P., Cheng, G., Sung, J.J., 2004. Retrospective comparison of convalescent plasma with continuing high-dose methylprednisolone treatment in SARS patients. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 10, 676–678.
- Sperber, S.J., Hayden, F.G., 1989. Comparative susceptibility of respiratory viruses to recombinant interferons-alpha 2b and -beta. J. Interferon. Res. 9, 285–293.
- Spiegel, M., Pichlmair, A., Muhlberger, E., Haller, O., Weber, F., 2004. The antiviral effect of interferon-beta against SARS-coronavirus is not mediated by MxA protein. J. Clin. Virol. 30, 211–213.
- Spiegel, M., Pilchmair, A., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Cros, J., Garcia-Sastre, A., Haller, O., Weber, F., 2005. Inhibition of beta interferon induction by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus suggests a two-step model for activation of interferon regulatory factor 3. J. Virol. 79, 2079–2086.
- Spiga, O., Bernini, A., Ciutti, A., Chiellini, S., Menciassi, N., Finetti, F., Causarono, V., Anselmi, F., Prischi, F., Niccolai, N., 2003. Molecular modelling of S1 and S2 subunits of SARS coronavirus spike glycoprotein. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 310, 78–83.
- Stadler, K., Masignani, V., Eickmann, M., Becker, S., Abrignani, S., Klenk, H.D., Rappuoli, R., 2003. SARS-beginning to understand a new virus. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 1, 209–218.
- Stroher, U., DiCaro, A., Li, Y., Strong, J.E., Aoki, F., Plummer, F., Jones, S.M., Feldmann, H., 2004. Severe acute respiratory syndromerelated coronavirus is inhibited by interferon-alpha. J. Infect. Dis. 189, 1164–1167.
- Subbarao, K., McAuliffe, J., Vogel, L., Fahle, G., Fischer, S., Tatti, K., Packard, M., Shieh, W.J., Zaki, S., Murphy, B., 2004. Prior infection and passive transfer of neutralizing antibody prevent replication of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus in the respiratory tract of mice. J. Virol. 78, 3572–3577.
- Sui, J., Li, W., Murakami, A., Tamin, A., Matthews, L.J., Wong, S.K., Moore, M.J., Tallarico, A.S., Olurinde, M., Choe, H., Anderson, L.J., Bellini, W.J., Farzan, M., Marasco, W.A., 2004. Potent neutralization

- of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) coronavirus by a human mAb to S1 protein that blocks receptor association. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 2536–2541.
- Sung, J.J., Wu, A., Joynt, G.M., Yuen, K.Y., Lee, N., Chan, P.K., Cockram, C.S., Ahuja, A.T., Yu, L.M., Wong, V.W., Hui, D.S., 2004. Severe acute respiratory syndrome: report of treatment and outcome after a major outbreak. Thorax 59, 414–420.
- Tan, E.L., Ooi, E.E., Lin, C.Y., Tan, H.C., Ling, A.E., Lim, B., Stanton, L.W., 2004a. Inhibition of SARS coronavirus infection in vitro with clinically approved antiviral drugs. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 10, 581–586
- Tan, Y.J., Fielding, B.C., Goh, P.Y., Shen, S., Tan, T.H., Lim, S.G., Hong, W., 2004b. Overexpression of 7a, a protein specifically encoded by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus, induces apoptosis via a caspase-dependent pathway. J. Virol. 78, 14043– 14047.
- ter Meulen, J., Bakker, A.B., van den Brink, E.N., Weverling, G.J., Martina, B.E., Haagmans, B.L., Kuiken, T., de Kruif, J., Preiser, W., Spaan, W., Gelderblom, H.R., Goudsmit, J., Osterhaus, A.D., 2004. Human monoclonal antibody as prophylaxis for SARS coronavirus infection in ferrets. Lancet 363, 2139–2141.
- Teranishi, F., Liu, Z.Q., Kunimatsu, M., Imai, K., Takeyama, H., Manabe, T., Sasaki, M., Okamoto, T., 2003. Calpain is involved in the HIV replication from the latently infected OM10.1 cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 303, 940–946.
- Todd, S., Anderson, C., Jolly, D.J., Craik, C.S., 2000. HIV protease as a target for retrovirus vector-mediated gene therapy. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1477, 168–188.
- Tompkins, S.M., Lo, C.Y., Tumpey, T.M., Epstein, S.L., 2004. Protection against lethal influenza virus challenge by RNA interference in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 8682–8686.
- Torre, D., Pugliese, A., Speranza, F., 2003. Role of nitric oxide in HIV-1 infection: friend or foe? Lancet Infect. Dis. 3, 273–280.
- Towler, P., Staker, B., Prasad, S.G., Menon, S., Tang, J., Parsons, T., Ryan, D., Fisher, M., Williams, D., Dales, N.A., Patane, M.A., Pantoliano, M.W., 2004. ACE2 X-ray structures reveal a large hinge-bending motion important for inhibitor binding and catalysis. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 17996–18007.
- Traggiai, E., Becker, S., Subbarao, K., Kolesnikova, L., Uematsu, Y., Gismondo, M.R., Murphy, B.R., Rappuoli, R., Lanzavecchia, A., 2004.
  An efficient method to make human monoclonal antibodies from memory B cells: potent neutralization of SARS coronavirus. Nat. Med. 10, 871–875.
- Tsang, K.W., Ho, P.L., Ooi, G.C., Yee, W.K., Wang, T., Chan-Yeung, M., Lam, W.K., Seto, W.H., Yam, L.Y., Cheung, T.M., Wong, P.C., Lam, B., Ip, M.S., Chan, J., Yuen, K.Y., Lai, K.N., 2003. A cluster of cases of severe acute respiratory syndrome in Hong Kong. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 1977–1985.
- Turner, R.B., Felton, A., Kosak, K., Kelsey, D.K., Mescievitz, C.K., 1986.Prevention of experimental coronavirus colds with intranasal alpha-2b interferon. J. Infect. Dis. 154, 443–447.
- Tyrell, D.A., 1986. The efficacy and tolerance of intranasal interferons: Studies at the Common Cold Unit. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 18, 153–156.
- Urosevic, N., 2003. Is flavivirus interferon type I-independent? Immunol. Cell. Biol. 81, 224–229.
- Utsunomiya, T., Kobayashi, M., Pollard, R.B., Suzuki, F., 1997. Gly-cyrrhizin, an active component of licorice roots, reduces morbidity and mortality of mice infected with lethal doses of influenza virus. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 41, 551–556.
- van den Brink, E.N., ter Meulen, J., Cox, F., Jongeneelen, M.A., Thijsse, A., Throsby, M., Marissen, W.E., Rood, P.M., Bakker, A.B., Gelderblom, H.R., Martina, B.E., Osterhaus, A.D., Preiser, W., Doerr, H.W., de Kruif, J., Goudsmit, J., 2005. Molecular and biological characterization of human monoclonal antibodies binding to the spike and nucleocapsid proteins of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. J. Virol. 79, 1635–1644.

- van Rossum, T.G., Vulto, A.G., Hop, W.C., Schalm, S.W., 1999. Pharmacokinetics of intravenous glycyrrhizin after single and multiple doses in patients with chronic hepatitis C infection. Clin. Ther. 21, 2080–2090.
- Vijgen, L., Keyaerts, B., Van Damme, E., Peumans, W., De Clercq, E., Balzarini, J., Van Ranst, M., 2004. Antiviral effect of plant compounds of the Alliaceae family against the SARS coronavirus. The 17th International Confecence on Antiviral Research. Antiviral Res. 62, A76.
- Wan, W., DePetrillo, P.B., 2002. Ritonavir inhibition of calcium-activated neutral proteases. Biochem. Pharmacol. 63, 1481–1484.
- Wang, K.K., 2000. Calpain and caspase: can you tell the difference? Trends Neurosci. 23, 20–26.
- Wang, W.K., Chen, S.Y., Liu, I.J., Kao, C.L., Chen, H.L., Chiang, B.L., Wang, J.T., Sheng, W.H., Hsueh, P.R., Yang, C.F., Yang, P.C., Chang, S.C., Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Research Group of the National Taiwan University College of Medicine/NTU Hospital, 2004a. Temporal relationship of viral load, ribavirin, interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, and clinical progression in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. Clin. Infect. Dis. 39, 1071–1075.
- Wang, Z., Ren, L., Zhao, X., Hung, T., Meng, A., Wang, J., Chen, Y.G., 2004b. Inhibition of severe acute respiratory syndrome virus replication by small interfering RNAs in mammalian cells. J. Virol. 78, 7523–7527.
- Weingartl, H.M., Derbshire, J.B., 1991. Antiviral activity against transmissible gastroenteritis virus, and cytotoxicity, of natural porcine interferons alpha and beta. Can. J. Vet. Res. 55, 143–149.
- Weingartl, H., Czub, M., Czub, S., Neufeld, J., Marszal, P., Gren, J., Smith, G., Jones, S., Proulx, R., Deschambault, Y., Grudeski, E., Andonov, A., He, R., Li, Y., Copps, J., Grolla, A., Dick, D., Berry, J., Ganske, S., Manning, L., Cao, J., 2004. Immunization with modified vaccinia virus Ankara-based recombinant vaccine against severe acute respiratory syndrome is associated with enhanced hepatitis in ferrets. J. Virol. 78, 12672–12676.
- Wong, V.W., Dai, D., Wu, A.K., Sung, J.J., 2003. Treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome with convalescent plasma. Hong Kong Med. J. 9, 199–201.
- Workman, P., 2004. Altered states: selectively drugging the HSP90 cancer chaperone. Trends Mol. Med. 10, 47–51.
- Wu, C.J., Jan, J.T., Chen, C.M., Hsieh, H.P., Hwang, D.R., Liu, H.W., Liu, C.Y., Huang, H.W., Chen, S.C., Hong, C.F., Lin, R.K., Chao, Y.S., Hsu, J.T., 2004a. Inhibition of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus replication by niclosamide. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 2693–2696.
- Wu, J.Z., Larson, G., Hong, Z., 2004b. Dual-action mechanism of viramidine functioning as a prodrug and as a catabolic inhibitor for ribavirin. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 4006–4008.
- Wu, C.Y., Jan, J.T., Ma, S.H., Kuo, C.J., Juan, H.F., Cheng, Y.S., Hsu, H.H., Huang, H.C., Wu, D., Brik, A., Liang, F.S., Liu, R.S., Fang, J.M., Chen, S.T., Liang, P.H., Wong, C.H., 2004c. Small molecules targeting severe acute respiratory syndrome human coronavirus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 10012–10017.
- Wu, C.J., Huang, H.W., Liu, C.Y., Hong, C.F., Chan, Y.L., 2005. Inhibition of SARS-CoV replication by siRNA. Antiviral Res. 65, 45–48.
- Xiong, B., Gui, C.S., Xu, X.Y., Luo, C., Chen, J., Luo, H.B., Chen, L.L., Li, G.W., Sun, T., Yu, C.Y., Yue, L.D., Duan, W.H., Shen, J.K., Qin, L., Shi, T.L., Li, Y.X., Chen, K.X., Luo, X.M., Shen, X., Shen, J.H., Jiang, H.L., 2003. A 3D model of SARS\_CoV 3CL proteinase and its inhibitors design by virtual screening. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 24, 497–504.
- Xu, X., Liu, Y., Weiss, S., Arnold, E., Sarafianos, S.G., Ding, J., 2003. Molecular model of SARS coronavirus polymerase: implications for biochemical functions and drug design. Nucleic Acids Res. 31, 7117–7130.
- Yamamoto, N., Yang, R., Yoshinaka, Y., Amari, S., Nakano, T., Cinatl, J., Rabenau, H., Doerr, H.W., Hunsmann, G., Otaka, A., Tamamura, H., Fujii, N., Yamamoto, N., 2004. HIV protease inhibitor nelfinavir in-

- hibits replication of SARS-associated coronavirus. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 318, 719–725.
- Yan, H., Xiao, G., Zhang, J., Hu, Y., Yuan, F., Cole, D.K., Zheng, C., Gao, G.F., 2004. SARS coronavirus induces apoptosis in Vero E6 cells. J. Med. Virol. 73, 323–331.
- Yanagawa, Y., Ogura, M., Fujimoto, E., Shono, S., Okuda, E., 2004. Effects and cost of glycyrrhizin in the treatment of upper respiratory tract infections in members of the Japanese Maritime Self-Defense Force: Preliminary report of a prospective, randomized, double-blind, controlled, parallel-group, alternate-day treatment assignment clinical trial. Curr. Ther. Res. 65, 26–33.
- Yang, H., Yang, M., Ding, Y., Liu, Y., Lou, Z., Zhou, Z., Sun, L., Mo, L., Ye, S., Pang, H., Gao, G.F., Anand, K., Bartlam, M., Hilgenfeld, R., Rao, Z., 2003. The crystal structures of severe acute respiratory syndrome virus main protease and its complex with an inhibitor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 13190–13195.
- Yang, Z.Y., Werner, H.C., Kong, W.P., Leung, K., Traggiai, E., Lanza-vecchia, A., Nabel, G.J., 2005. Evasion of antibody neutralization in emerging severe acute respiratory syndrome coronaviruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 797–801.
- Yi, H., Nakashima, I., Isobe, K., 1996. Enhancement of nitric oxide production from activated macrophages by glycyrrhizin. Am. J. Chin. Med. 24, 271–278.
- Yi, L., Li, Z., Yuan, K., Qu, X., Chen, J., Wang, G., Zhang, H., Luo, H., Zhu, L., Jiang, P., Chen, L., Shen, Y., Luo, M., Zuo, G., Hu, J., Duan, D., Nie, Y., Shi, X., Wang, W., Han, Y., Li, T., Liu, Y., Ding, M., Deng, H., Xu, X., 2004. Small molecules blocking the entry of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus into host cells. J. Virol. 78, 11334–11339.
- Yu, Z., Ohtaki, Y., Kai, K., Sasano, T., Shimauchi, H., Yokochi, T., Takada, H., Sugawara, S., Kumagai, K., Endo, Y., 2005. Critical roles of platelets in lipopolysaccharide-induced lethality: effects of glycyrrhizin and possible strategy for acute respiratory distress syndrome. Int. Immunopharmacol. 5, 571–580.
- Yuen, K.Y., 2003. Research outline in Hong Kong. In: Proceedings of the 2003 Prevention and Cure of SARS Seminar (Guangzhou, China). Guangzhou, Guangzhou Municipal Association of Science and Technology.
- Zhang, Y., Jamaluddin, M., Wang, S., Tian, B., Garofalo, R.P., Casola, A., Brasier, A.R., 2003a. Ribavirin treatment up-regulates antiviral gene expression via the interferon-stimulated response element in respiratory syncytial virus-infected epithelial cells. J. Virol. 77, 5933– 5947.
- Zhang, R., Guo, Z., Lu, J., Meng, J., Zhou, C., Zhan, X., Huang, B., Yu, X., Huang, M., Pan, X., Ling, W., Chen, X., Wan, Z., Zheng, H., Yan, X., Wang, Y., Ran, Y., Liu, X., Ma, J., Wang, C., Zhang, B., 2003b. Inhibiting severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus by small interfering RNA. Chin. Med. J. 116, 1262–1264.
- Zhang, X.W., Yap, Y.L., 2004. Old drugs as lead compounds for a new disease? Binding analysis of SARS coronavirus main proteinase with HIV, psychotic and parasite drugs. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 12, 2517–2521.
- Zhang, M.M., Liu, X.M., He, L., 2004a. Effect of integrated traditional Chinese and Western medicine on SARS: a review of clinical evidence. World J. Gastroenterol. 10, 3500–3505.
- Zhang, Y., Li, T., Fu, L., Yu, C., Li, Y., Xu, X., Wang, Y., Ning, H., Zhang, S., Chen, W., Babiuk, L.A., Chang, Z., 2004b. Silencing SARS-CoV Spike protein expression in cultured cells by RNA interference. FEBS Lett. 560, 141–146.
- Zhang, W., Yang, H., Kong, X., Mohapatra, S., Juan-Vergara, H.S., Hellermann, G., Behera, S., Singam, R., Lockey, R.F., Mohapatra, S.S., 2005. Inhibition of respiratory syncytial virus infection with intranasal siRNA nanoparticles targeting the viral NS1 gene. Nat. Med. 11, 56–62.
- Zhao, Z., Zhang, F., Xu, M., Huang, K., Zhong, W., Cai, W., Yin, Z., Huang, S., Deng, Z., Wei, M., Xiong, J., Hawkey, P.M., 2003. Description and clinical treatment of an early outbreak of severe acute

- respiratory syndrome (SARS) in Guangzhou, PR China. J. Med. Microbiol.  $52,\,715{-}720.$
- Zheng, B., He, M.L., Wong, K.L., Lum, C.T., Poon, L.L., Peng, Y., Guan, Y., Lin, M.C., Kung, H.F., 2004. Potent inhibition of SARS-associated coronavirus (SCOV) infection and replication by type I interferons
- (IFN-alpha/beta) but not by type II interferon (IFN-gamma). J. Interferon. Cytokine Res. 24, 388–390.
- Zhou, A., Paranjape, J.M., Williams, B.R., Silverman, R.H., 1999. Interferon action in triply deficient mice reveals the existence of alternative antiviral pathways. Virology 258, 435–440.